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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,
OVERVIEW

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Computer And
Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the unaudited interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the six months ended 30 June 2025.

Amid a challenging economic environment, the Group recorded
total revenue after the cost of goods and services procured from
third parties (“Net revenue after direct third-party costs”) of HK$108.0
million, reflecting a slight decline of 1.7% from HK$109.8 million in the
corresponding period last year. Meanwhile, the gross profit margin
increased to 56.7% (2024: 54.1%).

As highlighted in the Group’s 2024 annual results, sustained business
momentum required cost-efficient operations and a focused go-to-
market strategy. The results reflected the successful execution of
streamlined processes, which effectively reduced staff costs and selling,
general and administrative expenses. Additionally, the Group expanded
its software development capabilities in Mainland China’s Greater
Bay Area, accelerating product innovation and enhancing project
delivery efficiency. Consequently, profit from operations rose by 23.3%
to HK$17.7 million (2024: HK$14.4 million), with the operating profit
margin, calculated by operating profit divided by revenue, improving to
14.7% from 11.3% in 2024.

However, lower bank interest rates led to a 13.2% decrease in other
income and gains, which totalled HK$6.3 million (2024: HK$7.2 million).
Furthermore, a valuation loss of HK$2.0 million was recorded on the
Group's investment property (2024: HK$1.0 million), reflecting subdued
market conditions.

Despite the challenging market landscape, consolidated net profit
attributable to shareholders rose modestly by 2.4% to HK$18.6 million
(2024: HK$18.2 million). Basic earnings per share increased to 7.66 HK
cents, up from 7.46 HK cents in 2024.

Supported by strong operating cash flows and a consistently robust
financial position, the Board has declared an interim dividend of 5.5 HK
cents per ordinary share for the six months ended 30 June 2025, which is
consistent with the 5.5 HK cents paid in the prior period.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Application Software

Unfavorable macroeconomic conditions caused enterprise customers
to reduce headcounts and slow down investments in enterprise
management software. As a result, the Group’s Application Software!"
segment experienced a decline in overall revenue during the reporting
period. Nevertheless, the segment demonstrated resilience by
sustaining a growing stream of recurring revenue from Software as
a Services (“SaaS”) subscriptions. Through operational efficiencies
and disciplined cost management, the Group effectively preserved
segment’s profitability, showcasing robust execution and adaptability
amid revenue pressures.

The Group’s Human Resource Management Software (“HRMS”) business
in Hong Kong and Mainland China faced ongoing challenges due to
market softness. Following the launch of Pi HCM, a cloud-native Human
Capital Management (“HCM") software that received positive market
feedback, the Group secured several contracts from new customers,
including one of the largest cleaning services groups in Hong Kong, a
prominent statutory body under the Hong Kong SAR government (the
“Government”) and a vibrant digital technology hub in Hong Kong.
In addition, increasing number of upgrades orders are received from
existing install base. While early-stage implementation hurdles persist,
the management team is proactively addressing these challenges
to accelerate progress. Management remains confident that Pi HCM
will continue to unlock new opportunities with both current and
prospective clients in the near term.

The Group's enterprise software business maintained steady growth
in Saa$S revenue, though performance varied across product lines. The
Enterprise Retail Management Software (“ERMS”) business achieved
a robust recovery, driven by increased enhancement orders from
key enterprise clients. The Enterprise Information Management
Software (“EIMS”) business remained steady. CISC reported improved
performance, with increased licence revenue during the reporting
period.

The profit contribution from the Enterprise Procurement Management
Software (“EPMS”) business decreased, as additional resources
were allocated to deploy new versions of the ProSmart 3.0 product
featured with cloud-native architecture and Al capabilities designed
to streamline procurement processes and enhance compliance
efficiency. Management believes that ProSmart 3.0 will strengthen client
engagement and drive sustained business growth.

The Group remains steadfast in its commitment to innovation,

continuing to invest in product research and development to revitalise
its software portfolio with new Al features.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

ESE G

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Solutions and Integration Services

The Group’s Solutions and Integration Services” segment recorded an
8.7% revenue decline, totaling HK$51.6 million (2024: HK$56.5 million),
primarily due to reduced professional services revenue and the absence
of third-party product sales. Despite this, the segment maintained stable
recurring maintenance revenue. Through operational streamlining and
rigorous cost management, the Group sustained segment profitability
at HK$14.8 million (2024: HK$14.6 million), reflecting resilience amid
revenue challenges.

Managed Services? continued to generate strong recurring revenue,
driven by the ongoing Customer Care and Billing System (“CCBS”")
project for the Water Supplies Department and services provided to
other Government entities throughout the period.

Development Services® faced a slowdown in contract signings and
professional service recognition, largely due to more conservative
government spending on IT services. Nevertheless, the segment
capitalised on new opportunities in high-demand areas, including
cybersecurity and independent testing services for the Government and
other organisations, positioning it for future growth.

To leverage the rising adoption of Al technologies and the push
for technology localisation in Mainland China and Hong Kong, the
Group is forging strategic partnerships with leading innovation and
technology firms from Mainland China. These collaborations aim to
integrate cutting-edge technologies into the Group’s product portfolio
and enhance the professional expertise of its team. By fostering a
collaborative ecosystem with top Chinese technology vendors, the
Group seeks to deliver innovative, value added solutions and services to
its customers.

The Integration Services®? business in Mainland China experienced a
slight decline in segment performance, primarily due to reduced sales.

e-Service and related business

Hong Kong’s trade activities were strong in the first half of 2025
compared with the same period in 2024. The GETS™ business notably
outperformed the market, achieving double-digit growth in both
revenue and profit contribution during the reporting period.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Investments

Challenging market conditions continued to adversely affect the
valuation of the Group’s investment property, resulting in a downward
adjustment of HK$2.0 million (2024: HK$1.0 million). Consequently,
the Investments segment recorded a loss of HK$0.8 million during the
reporting period, compared with a loss of HK$0.4 million in the prior
period.

PROSPECT

The global economic outlook for 2025 presents a mixed picture, with
modest growth tempered by significant risks. Key challenges include
rising geopolitical tensions, trade disputes, financial market volatility,
and weakening international cooperation—all of which could hinder
global growth. In Hong Kong, fiscal constraints are likely to keep
government IT spending subdued, potentially impacting the Group’s
performance in the second half of 2025. However, the broader economic
outlook for Hong Kong SAR and Mainland China remains positive,
with growth expected, though sectoral performance may vary due to
elevated interest rates and geopolitical uncertainties affecting business
sentiment and investment.

Despite these challenges, the Group is well-positioned to navigate this
environment through disciplined cost management, targeted go-to-
market strategies, a strong installed base with recurring income, and a
robust SaaS portfolio built on cloud-native architecture. These strengths
also enhance the stability and scalability of its recurring revenue.

The Group is actively exploring various joint ventures and merger and
acquisition opportunities, for expansion to overseas market and, at
the same time, adopting a prudent approach that balances growth
aspirations with financial returns. A strategic initiative is expected to
materialise in the second half of the year.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

ESE G

Footnotes:

m The Group’s Application Services business engages in the provision of
application software and e-business services for enterprises including (i)
the provision of enterprise application software (including SaaS product
offering) with implementation and ongoing support services for Human
Resource Management, Enterprise Procurement Management, Enterprise
Information Management and Enterprise Retail Management (collectively
the “Application Software”); and (ii) the Government Electronic Trading
Services (“GETS”), cloud services and other related value added services
(collectively the “e-Service and related business”).

@ The Group's Solutions and Integration Services business includes (i)
Development Services for the provision of IT solutions implementation
and application software development (including SaaS product offering);
(ii) Managed Services for the provision of IT and related operation/
infrastructure outsourcing services; and (iii) Integration Services for the
provision of IT systems and network infrastructure with related design,
implementation and ongoing support services.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Net revenue after direct third-party costs

The Group’s net revenue after direct third-party costs declined
slightly by 1.7% to HK$108.0 million (2024: HK$109.8 million) during
the reporting period. This reduction was mainly attributable to
lower recognition of professional service income and a shift in the
new contract backlog. Nevertheless, recurring revenue—including
maintenance and SaaS income—continued to grow steadily. In line with
the decline in sales of third-party products and outsourced services, the
cost of goods and services procured from third parties decreased by
HK$5.5 million, or 30.9%, to HK$12.3 million (2024: HK$17.7 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Staff costs and other operating expenses/incomes (including selling
and distribution expenses, general and administrative expenses,
net, reversal of impairment/(impairment) of trade receivables, net,
finance costs, amortisation of other intangible assets and other
operating income)

Resulting from headcount streamlining, overall staff costs decreased by
1.2% to HK$76.5 million (2024: HK$77.4 million).

Focused go-to-market activities contributed to savings in selling and
distribution expenses. However, these savings were offset by the
expansion of the sales and marketing team carried over from last year,
resulting in a slight increase in overall selling and distribution expenses
by 2.6% to HK$18.0 million (2024: HK$17.6 million).

General and administrative expenses, net, decreased by HK$3.2 million,
or 10.7%, to HK$26.7 million (2024: HK$29.9 million), benefiting from
cost-effective initiatives such as office relocation and improvements in
operational efficiency.

Amortisation of other intangible assets decreased by 3.4% to HK$6.4
million (2024: HK$6.7 million), reflecting a continued decline in the
recognition of such expense.

Other operating income rose with the increased receipt of various
government subsidies.

Profit from operations
Driven by savings in costs and expenses, the profit from operations
increased by HK$3.3 million, or 23.3%, to HK$17.7 million (2024: HK$14.4

million). The operating profit margin also improved from 11.3% same
period last year to 14.7% this year.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

ESE G

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Non-operating incomes and gains, net (included other income
and gains, foreign exchange differences, net and fair value gains/
(losses), net)

Other income and gains declined by 13.1%, to HK$6.3 million (2024:
HK$7.2 million), mainly due to a decrease in bank interest income during
the reporting period.

The Group faced challenges from unfavorable market sentiment, which
adversely affected the valuation of its investment property. As a result, a
downward fair value adjustment of HK$2.0 million (2024: HK$1.0 million)
was recorded during the period.

In contrast, a rally in the stock market led to a positive revaluation of
financial assets, resulting in a fair value gain of HK$0.3 million (2024: loss
of HK$0.2 million).

Income tax expense

In line with increase in local assessable profits, the income tax expense
increased by HK$0.2 million, or 9.1%, to HK$3.0 million (2024: HKS$2.7
million).

Net profit

The profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders recorded a mild
increase of HK$0.4 million, or 2.4%, reaching HK$18.6 million (2024:
HK$18.2 million). The net profit margin, calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders for the period by total revenue, improved to
15.5% (2024: 14.2%).

Non-current assets

Non-current assets declined moderately by HK$9.9 million, or 4.2%,
to HK$228.1 million as at 30 June 2025 (31 December 2024: HK$238.0
million). The decrease was mainly attributable to several factors:
ongoing amortisation of other intangible assets, downward revaluation
of the investment property, and depreciation of right-of-use assets.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Current assets

Current assets recorded a slight decline of HK$5.9 million, or 1.4%, to
HK$428.7 million as at 30 June 2025 (31 December 2024: HK$434.6
million). The change was primarily driven by reductions in trade
receivables, prepayments and deposits paid, and cash and bank
balances partially offset by increases in contract assets and tax
recoverable.

Current liabilities and non-current liabilities

The Group’s current and non-current liabilities decreased by HK$22.4
million, or 13.1%, to HK$148.0 million as at 30 June 2025 (31 December
2024: HK$170.3 million). This drop was mainly contributed by the
decrease in trade payables, contract liabilities and lease liabilities.

Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets under the Applications Services segment declined,
primarily due to amortisation of other intangible assets, coupled with
reductions in right-of-use assets and trade receivables. Correspondingly,
segment liabilities decreased, reflecting lower accruals, contract
liabilities, and lease liabilities.

The Solutions and Integration Services segment also recorded
a reduction in assets, driven by decreases in trade receivables,
prepayments and deposits. Segment liabilities fell primarily due to
decreases in trade and other payables, as well as contract liabilities.

Assets in the Investments segment declined, mainly as a result of
downward adjustments in the valuation of an investment property.

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Total equity attributable to the owners of the parent remained broadly
stable at HK$507.6 million as at 30 June 2025 (31 December 2024:
HK$501.1 million). The slight increase primarily reflects profit generated
during the period, partially offset by the distribution of the final dividend
for 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

ESE G

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements
from time to time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had pledged an investment property with
a fair value of HK$55.0 million (31 December 2024: HK$57.0 million),
listed equity securities of Nil (31 December 2024: HK$1.9 million)
and bank balances of HK$0.2 million (31 December 2024: HK$202.5
million) to secure certain general bank facilities including guarantee/
performance bonds facilities granted to the Group/subsidiaries of the
Company in aggregate of HK$33.9 million (31 December 2024: HK$111.8
million) of which HK$21.8 million (31 December 2024: HK$22.3 million)
were utilised as at 30 June 2025.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$326.9 million (31 December 2024: HK$128.9 million).

All of the Group’s on hand fundings are in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and US dollars. The Group has not adopted any hedging policies,
as these currencies carry relatively low exchange fluctuation risks.
Nevertheless, the Group had been monitoring the foreign exchange
exposures closely and might consider hedging any significant foreign
currency exposure in order to minimise the exchange risk should the
needs arose.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had no bank borrowings (31 December
2024: Nil). The Group's current ratio representing current assets divided
by current liabilities was 3.3 (31 December 2024: 2.9) and its gearing
ratio, representing total liabilities divided by total assets, was 22.5% (31
December 2024: 25.3%).
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and prevailing market conditions. Apart from
basic salary, discretionary bonus and other incentives are offered to
employees of the Group to reward their performance and contributions.

The remuneration policies adopted for the six months ended 30
June 2025 are consistent with those disclosed in the Group’s 2024
Annual Report. As at 30 June 2025, the Group employed 335 full time
employees and 10 part time employees (31 December 2024: 337 full
time employees and 10 part time employees).

As at 30 June 2025, the Company operates a share award scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the employees who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations as well as to retain
them for the continual development of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group had no significant investments
held as at 30 June 2025.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group did not have any material

acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during the period and up to the
date of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at
30 June 2025.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group has no material contingent
liabilities as at 30 June 2025.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

ESE G

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board declared the payment of an interim dividend of HK$0.055
(2024: an interim dividend of HK$0.055) per ordinary share for the six
months ended 30 June 2025.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
1 September 2025 to Tuesday, 2 September 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the interim dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29
August 2025. The dividend will be distributed on or about Tuesday, 16
September 2025 to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members of the Company on Tuesday, 2 September 2025 (i.e. the record
date).

APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the Board and the management, | would like to express our
sincere thanks to all employees, shareholders, customers and business
partners for their supports to the Group during the reporting period.

By order of the Board

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
Ng Cheung Shing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 August 2025
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Computer And Technologies
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) herein presents the unaudited
interim condensed consolidated results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the six months ended 30 June
2025, together with the comparative figures. These unaudited interim
condensed consolidated results have been reviewed by the Company’s
audit committee.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
ORLOSS

B SRR

M RGEBRBRAR([ARANEES
(B2 )BUR2NARFREHMEAF
([ AEBDBE_T_RAFA=1H
ERERZ AR EZEREATREEER
HEHF - WEREEZEHRAKRE P ESR
ERBHARREZZEEHEM -

ERRESRER

For the six months

ended 30 June
BZEANA=1+HILAER
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZX) (REEHE=Z)
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&t FET FHEIT
REVENUE PN 5 120,225 127,567
Cost of sales and services: SHE KRS
Cost of goods and services procured HE=FERBEEMR
from third parties AR 7 2 B AR (12,255) (17,729)
Related staff costs 1B B TR (39,825) (40,887)
Gross profit EF 68,145 68,951
Other operating income H 2B A 5 1,247 408
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RS MY (18,015) (17,555)
General and administrative expenses, net  —f#% & {7015 < %48 (26,738) (29,931)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of ~ [EIE 5 8RB LR E,
trade receivables, net CRE) 58 106 (394)
Finance costs Bi58E A 7 (582) (438)
Amortisation of other intangible assets HihER EER (6,449) (6,673)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS REBRA 17,714 14,368
Other income and gains HE MU KWz 5 6,285 7,236
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 3 Z RR SRR (784) 403
Fair value gains/(losses), net: ANFEYWE(EI8)FH
Financial assets at fair value through BRATFEEBRARZ
profit or loss WEEE 312 (243)
Investment property "EYE (2,000) (1,000)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBL AT % R 6 21,527 20,764
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (continued)

ERGEeEER(E)

For the six months

ended 30 June
BZXA=1+HIEAEA
2025 2024
—E-REF —EE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (CREEEZ)
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
HtaE FHET FHIT
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 21,527 20,764
Income tax expense 8 (2,969) (2,721)
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 18,558 18,043
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BUF AT
Owners of the parent ISNEIEZZ =N 18,595 18,166
Non-controlling interests FEPE I M R (37) (123)
18,558 18,043
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE &2 R ER R R EG
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF HK cents HK cents
THE PARENT 10 AL 7B
Basic 7.66 7.46
Diluted 7.64 7.42
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
RAE 2 Em R &R

For the six months
ended 30 June
BZAA=1+HIEAEAR

2025 2024
—E-HE —E_pUFE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZX) (REEEZ)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD AR A 18,558 18,043
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Htt2EBA
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that MR - Hth2EKA
may be reclassified to profit or loss in (BE)AIEF T EEBRK ¢
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETBEREE CIEH 58
foreign operations 952 (1,081)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FHBEEBALLE
THE PERIOD 19,510 16,962
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: AN ARG
Owners of the parent ISYNSIETFE PN 19,547 17,085
Non-controlling interests FEE SRR (37) (123)
19,510 16,962
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B RRAR S I AR &R

30 June 31 December
2025 2024
k- e 3 —TEF
ANA=+H +ZA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEZ) (ge=z)
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KfaF FET FHAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB KRG 1 6,107 6,123
Investment property EYEE 12 55,000 57,000
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13(a) 16,527 18,306
Goodwill SRS 14 135,001 135,001
Other intangible assets HEEREE 15 11,232 16,857
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELEERARZ
profit or loss — debt investment S EE —EKIRE 18 2,100 2,100
Deposits i e 1,397 1,845
Deferred tax assets IEIETRIBE B 21 698 773
Total non-current assets IEMBNVE EBE 228,062 238,005
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 78 10 1
Trade receivables FEUNE 5 BR 5K 16 28,526 39,514
Contract assets BREE 17 44,334 37,064
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - e REAM
receivables e T IE 12,891 15,296
Tax recoverable ALRETIA 13,554 9,393
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEZERARZ
profit or loss - listed equity investments BB E— FTRAKRE 18 2,238 1,926
Pledged bank deposits B ITER 178 202,491
Cash and cash equivalents RekERRGEE 326,925 128,907
Total current assets MENVEEEE 428,656 434,602
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables, other payables and JERTE SR - EfER
accruals FIB N EREE 19 60,232 70,474
Contract liabilities SRBE 20 47,270 60,208
Lease liabilities HEBE 13(b) 4,660 4,286
Tax payable FEBTRIA 19,265 15,170
Total current liabilities mEBERE 131,427 150,138
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 297,229 284,464
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES A& ERREERE 525,291 522,469
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

ERGRES MBI R(E)

30 June 31 December
2025 2024
—E-HE —E_pF
ANA=+H +=ZA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REHEZR) (He=Z)
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FET FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Provision B 19 820 795
Contract liabilities GHAE 20 635 894
Lease liabilities HEaE 13(b) 12,887 15,009
Deferred tax liabilities BRERIBAE 21 2,192 3,511
Total non-current liabilities SERBBEREE 16,534 20,209
Net assets AEME 508,757 502,260
EQUITY L
Equity attributable to owners of BATEE AEGER
the parent
Issued capital BEITIRAR 24,433 24,433
Share premium account & imERR 41,410 41,410
Shares held under the restricted share RIE A IR HI i 15 22 Eh =1+ 2
award scheme ISl L) (2,826) (3,872)
Reserves &G 444,611 425,770
Proposed final dividend FER R B S, & 13,353
507,628 501,094
Non-controlling interests FEFR I RE S 1,129 1,166
Total equity B 508,757 502,260
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HRm e RS BR

Attributable to owners of the parent

BADERAEE
Reserves
G
Shares held
under the Share-
Share  restricted based Exchange Proposed Non-
lssued ~ premium shareaward  payment  Goodwill  Reserve fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account  scheme  reseve  reserve funds  reserve profits  dividend Total  interests equity
REERA
BEE]
BB B HEE i) i3} #I 305
BA RBER BB GYEE AEEE BRES  RBEE REEN  AEERS 2% B EROE
HKS'000  HKY000 — HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000
Tir TEr T TR TEn T TEr  TEr  TEn  TEn T T
At1 January 2024 (audited) RZB-mE-A-A
(&z%) 24,702 447 (5454) 5063 (7.227) 746 (3162) 429356 13493 504664 1335 505999
Profit for the period TR S - - - - - - 18166 - 1866 13 1808
Other comprehensive income THFARZERA
forthe period:
Exchange differences on HEBNERREEY
translation of foreign EiER
operations - - - - - - (1,081) - - (1,081) - (1,081)
Total comprehensive income REE2AUAES
for the period S S S S S S (1,081) 18,166 - 17,085 13 16,962
Vesting of shares held underthe IR A1 445t EE T
restricted share award scheme ROSE - - 1143 (1,183) - - - - - - - -
Share award arrangements By “ﬁﬁﬂ;z}}ﬁ - - - 642 - - - - - 642 - 642
Final 2023 dividend declared El S S = S - - - 127 (13493 (13366) - (13366)
Share repurchased Bk 7 @54 - - - - - - - (4752) - (4752)
At30 June 2024 (unaudited) R-E-MERA=TA
(REER) 24,495 42,602 (4311) 4,562 (1.221) 746 (4243) 447,649 - 504213 1212 505485
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

AR SRR BR(EF)
Attributable to owners of the parent
BRAFEARL
Reserves
i
Shares held
underthe  Share-
Share  restricted based Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued ~ premium shareaward payment  Goodwill  Reserve fluctuation Retained final controlling Total
capital  account  scheme  reserve reserve funds  reserve  profits  dividend Total interests equity
REERH
RH%R
BEfT Rt HEEE kit EX Rk Fisit
Ra  REEE BB AREE BERR BREC JERRE RERN  AHRR 2] R EREE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén TEn TEx TEr Tz TEx TEn  TEr  TEx  TEx  TEn TR
At 1 January 2025 (audited) RZB-EE-F-A
(&EH) 24,433 1,410 (3,872) 4728 (7,227) 746 (4329) 431,852 13,353 501,094 1166 502,260
Profit for the period REERR - - - - - - - 18595 - 18595 (37) 18558
Other comprehensiveincome  REEEM2EKA :
forthe period:
Exchange differences on BERNERREEL
translation of foreign EXZE
operations - - - - - - 952 - - 952 - 952
Total comprehensiveincome  AHHE2ERALE
for the period - - - - - - 952 18,595 - 19,547 (37) 19,510
Vesting of shares heldunderthe R 4IRAEBIAET
restricted share award scheme ~ RIEE - - 1046 (1,046) - - - - - - - -
Share award arrangements RipEmzs - - - 340 - - e E = 340 = 340
Final 2024 dividend declared ~ EK-E-MERHKE - - - - - - - - (13383) (13353 - (133%3)
At30 June 2025 (unaudited) W-B-RERAZTA
(REEH) 1AB MA0 (28) 402 (7.227) M6 (3377) 450,447 - 50768 1,129 508757
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BRGERERER

For the six months

ended 30 June
BEANA=THLEAEA
2025 2024
—E-HE —E
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEER)
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
lioEz3 THET FHL
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ E&ZBHFIERERE
Profit before tax KR A 21,527 20,764
Adjustments for: BoRE
Finance costs HBER 7 582 438
Bank interest income RITH BIA 5 (6,282) (7,236)
Dividend income from listed investments BAHERBR AR ETiE
at fair value through profit or loss ERBIWA 5 (92) (98)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NEER (W) T8 -
Financial assets at fair value through BATERBRARZ
profit or loss MBERE (312) 243
Investment property WEYE 2,000 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment )3 = MREZITE 6 664 313
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESEZINE 6 2,387 4,045
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of [N E ZERFRE,
trade receivables, net (BERE)F5 6 (106) 394
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihmp g g 6 6,449 6,673
Equity-settled share-based payment expense MR AR A2 340 642
Gain on lease modifications HEB 2 e 6 (3) (57)
27,154 27,121
Decrease in inventories FERL 1 2
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEWE BERFUR D,/ (3810) 11,321 (2182)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits ~ FANTZUE - 124 M E M EI A
and other receivables w3 m) 3,120 (4,786)
Increase in contract assets BHRIEEEMN (7,085) (13,121)
Decrease in trade payables, other payablesand ~ JEfT'Z F8E50 - HEMENZRIER
accruals FEEt SR (10,770) (1,538)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHBERD (13,880) (981)
Cash generated from operations mEEBEMERE 9,861 4,515
Hong Kong profits tax paid EHEEFER (4,234) (906)
Overseas taxes refunded/(paid) REL/ (B8 8N FE (27) 16
Net cash flows from operating activities RS EESZIRS REFRE 5,600 3,625
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

AR ERENER(E)

For the six months
ended 30 June
BEANA=THLEAEAR

2025 2024
—E-EHE —ZCmEF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEERZ) (REEER)
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Net cash flows from operating activities e RBMECRe R E 5,600 3,625
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ~ BREFBHFIEvHEHE
Bank interest received BURERTTHE 6,282 7,236
Dividends received from listed investments Tﬁﬂ$ﬁ%@§ﬁ§)\ﬁ§2iﬁﬁﬁ
at fair value through profit or loss BIA 92 98
Purchases of items of property, plant and 5%, J}%% R MREIER
equipment (632) (555)
Additions to other intangible assets NEHMEREE (820) =
Proceeds from disposal of an investment HE IR E Y ETE IR
property = 2,838
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits 23X IIRI TR L/ (3E1n) 202,320 (87)
Decrease/(increase) in non-pledged bank WEER R SHEBA=EA
deposits with original maturity of more than EIRITETORD /()
three months when acquired 45,571 (870)
Net cash flows from investing activities BETHMEHEREFHE 252,813 8,660
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ B&EEBfiERERE
Shares repurchased BERERG - (4,752)
Principal portion of lease payments MENFH RS (2,361) (4,077)
Dividend paid BERRE (13,353) (13,366)
Interest paid BERFE (557) (438)
Net cash flows used in financing activities B EEFRAESREFE (16,271) (22,633)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND iﬁ%&%ﬁfﬁﬁﬁézi‘é‘ﬂu/
CASH EQUIVALENTS CR2) 3 242,142 (10,348)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ﬁﬂ%ﬂzfﬁi&mﬂfﬁ@ﬁfi
period 71,336 81,176
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net fE R BBy~ 2 FE 1,447 (1,034)
CASHAND CASHEQUIVALENTSATENDOF MR BEERERBLEE
PERIOD 314,925 69,794
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

ERFEERERER(E)

For the six months
ended 30 June
BEANA=THLEAEAR

2025 2024
—EBC-ERE —E A
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEER)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHT
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERERARSEELBRIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in SRR A ISR R R Z
the condensed consolidated statement of BeMERRGEE
financial position 326,925 305,633
Non-pledged bank deposits with original W REBRBR=MAZ
maturity of more than three months when EIRIRRT TR
acquired (12,000) (235,839)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the AR AR e RERTTRS
condensed consolidated statement of Be SRR EE
cash flows 314,925 69,79
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1.

2.

Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 18" Floor, Viva Place, No. 36 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk
Hang, Hong Kong.

During the period, the Group was involved in the following
principal activities:

provision of enterprise application software and e-business
services for enterprises including the provision of enterprise
application software (including Software as a Service (“SaaS”)
product offering) with implementation and ongoing support
services, the Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS"),
cloud services and other related value-added services;

provision of information technology (“IT") solutions
implementation and application software development
(including Saa$ product offering), provision of IT and related
operation/infrastructure outsourcing services, and provision
of IT systems and network infrastructure with related design,
implementation and ongoing support services; and

property and treasury investments.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The interim condensed consolidated financial information of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2025 has been prepared in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 34 Interim
Financial Reporting issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

The interim condensed consolidated financial information does
not include all the information and disclosures required in the
annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction
with the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current period’s presentation.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim
condensed consolidated financial information are consistent
with those applied in the preparation of the Group’s annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, except for the adoption of the following amended HKFRS
Accounting Standard for the first time for the current period’s
financial information.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability

The nature and impact of the amended HKFRS Accounting
Standard are described below:

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. As the currencies that the Group had transacted
with and the functional currencies of group entities for translation
into the Group's presentation currency were exchangeable, the
amendments did not have any impact on the interim condensed
consolidated financial information.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) the application services segment that primarily engages
in the provision of enterprise application software and
e-business services for enterprises including the provision
of enterprise application software (including SaaS product
offering) with implementation and ongoing support services,
the GETS, cloud services and other related value-added
services;
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AR ERIERIN
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EX - ZHEEFBRWERIEHRKRE
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E P RS AR A RIS B RHERE AT R

7B .

=
=

RETHER

BHBRER  AEBERBEEE®R MRS
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) the solutions and integration services segment that primarily
engages in the provision of IT solutions implementation and
application software development (including SaaS product
offering), provision of IT and related operation/infrastructure
outsourcing services, and provision of IT systems and network
infrastructure with related design, implementation and
ongoing support services; and

(c) the investments segment that primarily engages in various
types of investing activities including, inter alia, property
investment for rental income and/or for capital appreciation
and treasury investment in securities for dividend income
and/or for capital appreciation.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that unallocated interest income,
unallocated other income and gains, unallocated foreign exchange
differences, net, corporate and other unallocated depreciation, and
corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

(a)

Operating segments

RETHER (R’

(a) REHEI

Solutions and
Application Services Integration Services Investments Total
R AR RRER RS bt g
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“¥CEF CFCRF CRCEF CFCRF C¥CEF CECRF CERCEF CEORF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) —(Unaudited)
(REgh) (RE2R) (REEK) (REE%) (REBR) (RE8%) (REBR) (REER)
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000
Tén TEr  TER  TEr TR TEr  TEn  TEx
Segment revenue: PHUA
Sales to external customers (note 5) & FHRE S () 67771 0191 51626 56517 828 859 120225 127567
Intersegment sales HBEEE 453 764 1397 7024 - s 1,850 7,788
Other operating income AtEBRA 1,155 253 - 57 9 % 1,47" 408'
Total seqment revenue HHRALE 69379 71208 53,023 63598 920 957 123322 135763
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment sales ) ShfAHEH (1850)  (7789)
121,472 127975
Segment results PHEE 15,747 14,708 14,797 14,550 (764) (356) 29,780 28,902
Reconciliation: G
Unallocated interest income FARASWA 6,282 71236
Unallocated other income and gains R 2B A4\ R i ¥ 4
Unallocated foreign exchange KRB ERTFE
differences, net (784) 403
Corporateand other unallocated ~ MEREMADEHE
depreciation (393) (17
Corporateand otherunallocated ~ (MEREMRAEFR
expenses (13,361) (15,660)
Profit before tax Gyt 2,57 20764
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

(a) Operating segments (continued)

Application Services
ERRH

30June 31 December

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMEE ()

REDHER(R|)

(a) EE2E(A)

Solutions and
Integration Services Investments Total
BAREREAEH RE 8%

30June 31 December 30June 31 December 30June 31 December

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Z5opE 3 o 3 Z5CRE
Z$EF fCh C®CEE oA CRCEE IR Z¥2RF 10
~AZTR =r-B ARStR =t AREtR =t-B RAZtR =r-H
(Unaudited) ~ (Audited) (Unaudited)  (Audited (Unaudited)  (Audited) (Unaudited)  (Audited)
(7880 (430 (RE®K) (980) (REER) (B30 (RE®R) (429
HK$'000 HKS000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
T Tin TEn T Thn Tin TEn Fin
Segment assets AHEE 180,512 185,835 56,174 63512 59,347 61172 296,033 310519
Recondiliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment receivables 4 EIEEIIE ) 3 (3.273) 2093)
Comorateand other unallocated assets ~ MEREMANTEE 363,958 364,181
Total assets ZE0E 656,718 672607
Segment liabilities P8k 87,636 94,138 20,678 34473 608 608 108,922 129,169
Reconcilation: #E:
Elimination of intersegment payables 4 FIE[ZES 3 (3273) (2093)
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMRARERE
liabilities 42,312 s
Total liablties BELE 491 170347
* This represents the consolidated revenue of HKS 120,225,000 (2024: * FEREEAEBREZ A NA

HKS127,567,000) in the condensed consolidated statement of profit

or loss.

A These comprise the consolidated other operating income, of A

120,225,000/ ¢ ( = F — U 4F :
127,567,000/ 7T ) ©

BEREAGEEZRAZES

HKS 1,247,000 (2024: HK$408,000) in the condensed consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

These comprise the consolidated other income and gains, of
HKS6,285,000 (2024: HKS7,236,000) in the condensed consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

(a)

Operating segments (continued)

e

2 ERE R ()

(a) EE2E(E)

Solutions and
Application Services Integration Services Investments Total
FE R i BAFRRER RS kg a%
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Z¥-EF “ECMF C$CRF CTOPF CRCIEF CROPF CRCEEF CTOME
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) —(Unaudited)
(R@8H) (KEzR) (REB8R) (REER) (REBR) (REBR) (REBR) (REER)
HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ez TRz Tz TEr Tz TEr  TEr  TEx
Other segment information: A dER
Net fair value loss on an investment  RENEATEEEFE
property - - = S (2,000) (1,000) (2,000) (1,000)
Net fair value gains/(losses) on BATEEEENEL
financial assets at fair value SREENTENS/
through profit or loss (FR)58 - - - - 312 (243) 312 ()
Amortisation of other intangible assets 1 & E#44 2,564 2,799 3,885 3874 - - 6,449 6,673
Depreciation HE 1,015 1,162 479 578 - - 1,494 1,740
Corporateand other unallocated M REMADEHTE
depreciation 1,557 2618
3,051 4358
Impairment/{reversal of impaiment)  EWE 5&AE,/
of trade receivables, net* (BERE)#E (242) 362 136 3 - - (106) 39
Capital expenditure* ERER 645 17 629 301 - = 1274 418
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ REMADEEAR T
capital expenditure*™ 178 137
1,452 555

* Including impairment of trade receivables attributable to the
application services segment of HK$670,000 (2024: HK$844,000)
and the solutions and integration services segment of HKS770,000
(2024: HK$454,000), respectively, and reversal of impairment
of trade receivables attributable to the application services
segment of HK$912,000 (2024: HK$482,000) and the solutions and
integration services segment of HK$634,000 (2024: HK$422,000),

respectively.

**  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment and other intangible assets.

*

**

153K B FEFA IR TS 55 28 K B R 77
RREMRBE D2 EKE SR
FOB1E 5 5l %5670,000F T ( = F
—PU4E : 844,000 T ) X 770,000
BT (= F = P : 454,000
L) A RKEEAREE R

BERTT 5 R KR TE

a2 FEH

B 5 8RB B R (B 5 51 5 912,000
JBIT(—ZF —IU4F : 482,000/ L)

X 634,000 T (= &
422,000;87T) °

EXAXEEREYE
RIBAREMETVEE °

Sy it o
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. K& o5&k (&)
(b) Geographical information (b) HEER
(i) Revenue from external customers (i) KEIIZREEFZHKA
Hong Kong and other
countries/regions Mainland China Total
ERREMER HE HE At “m
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“E-RE —EoNF ZBCRFE —ToNF —B-RE —ZEONF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBER) (REBZ) (REBR) (REER) (REER) (REER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AL TEL TAT TER TAT
Segment revenue: AHBA :
Sales to external customers  SHEFHREP 100,530 104,680 19,695 22,887 120,225 127,567
The revenue information above is based on the locations it AE R TIARPE AT
of the customers. oA EE o
(i) Non-current assets (i) FREEE

30 June 31 December

2025 2024

—E-HE T OF

NA=+H +t-A=1+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REBFEXR) (He8z)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Hong Kong &5 129,775 134,477
Mainland China AR A 94,092 98,810
223,867 233,287

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

(c) Information about a major customer

Revenue from transactions with an external customer
amounting to 10% or more of the Group's total revenue:

For the six months ended 30 June 2025, revenue from a
major customer of HK$41,482,000 (2024: HK$40,664,000)
was derived from transactions with the customer reported
in the application services segment and the solutions and
integration services segment.

5. REVENUE, OTHER OPERATING INCOME, AND 5.
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

RETHER (R’
(0 —REXEFFZEHR

RE—BINABRER G ZWAMER
EEARAI10% A E -

BE_ET-_HEF~A=+tHIEX
AR KE—BEFEREFZKA
741,482,000 7L ( ZF Z PO :
40,664,00078 70 ) * BT E IR
EERN R Y S
REBRRBITNREFERZS °

WA - ERBBWA - REAMIK
INSLE:
BASHTIT :

For the six months

ended 30 June
BEAA=1+RHILAEA
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEEZ)
HK$'000 HK$’000
FBxT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHBA 119,397 126,708
Revenue from other sources R EHARFEAWA
Gross rental income from investment properties $&& ¥ 2 fH 4 U A %8 828 859
120,225 127,567
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Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

REVENUE, OTHER OPERATING INCOME, AND
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)

5. WA - HEHZRA -

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

R E AW

AR Wz (&)
REAFEFEHHBA

(i) ZHFURAEH

Solutions and

Application Integration
Services Services Total
BRERR
P PR AR 7% SRR k]
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (RLBER) (REER)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET FET
For the six months ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZBE-HFAA=1H
ER{EA
Segments by
Types of goods or services EmSREER
Sale of goods and provision of software, — $H& & @ IR EEH &
and GETS services BRE+E 5 R 14,497 329 14,826
Provision of software implementation IR E i AR ARTS
and related services, and IT solutions REMBBRATRER
implementation and related services NAARAARTE 14,174 23,773 37,947
Provision of SaaS product offering and REMENREERR
maintenance services K IR 39,100 27,524 66,624
Total revenue from contracts RERFPEDRBIA
with customers 67,771 51,626 119,397
Geographical markets it E %
Hong Kong and others BB NEA 50,106 49,596 99,702
Mainland China FREIAHE 17,665 2,030 19,695
Total revenue from contracts RERPEHRBIA
with customers 67,771 51,626 119,397
Timing of revenue recognition [ NS L
Goods and services transferred at RE—EEZERRRS
a pointin time 14,497 329 14,826
Services transferred over time —ER B [ B R AR TS 53,274 51,297 104,571
Total revenue from contracts REBFA LB A
with customers 67,771 51,626 119,397
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

5. REVENUE, OTHER OPERATING INCOME, AND 5. WA - HMIEBRA - REMY
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED) AR Wz (48)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) KEEFELOHNBA(E)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DIFKRAZER(E)
Solutions and
Application Integration
Services Services Total
BAFRR
7 A AR SERK AR Fiake]
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZ) (REE®Z)  CREER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET
For the six months ended 30June 2024 HE-—ZF-EXA=1H
EAEA
Segments bap:i
Types of goods or services EmZREER
Sale of goods and provision of software, &S R MIRHEEH
and GETS services BN EFE 5R% 11,523 3,400 14,923
Provision of software implementation IR E i M AR ARTS
and related services, and IT solutions REAEHERATRER
implementation and related services N AARARRTE 19,207 26,572 45,779
Provision of SaaS product offering and RETMENREERR
maintenance services HERT 39,461 26,545 66,006
Total revenue from contracts RERFA DB
with customers 70,191 56,517 126,708
Geographical markets HETE
Hong Kong and others BB NEAM 50,030 53,810 103,840
Mainland China FR B A3 20,161 2,707 22,868
Total revenue from contracts RERFA LRI
with customers 70,191 56,517 126,708
Timing of revenue recognition [ NS
Goods and services transferred at RE—RBEEEE R MRS
apointin time 11,523 3,400 14,923
Services transferred over time A — B R R AR 7% 58,668 53,117 111,785
Total revenue from contracts REBPAHMBIKA
with customers 70,191 56,517 126,708
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5.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

REVENUE, OTHER OPERATING INCOME, AND
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods and provision of software and GETS services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon
product/service delivery, where payment in advance is
normally required, and the balance is generally due within 30
to 60 days from the date of delivery.

Provision of software implementation and related services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30
to 60 days from the date of billing.

Provision of IT solutions implementation and related services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30
days from the date of billing. Generally, a certain percentage
of payment is retained by respective customers as the
Group's entitlement to the final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the respective contracts.

Provision of Saa$ product offering and maintenance services
The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as

services are rendered and payments in advance are normally
required before rendering the services.
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5.

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

WA - EERWA - REAK
AR Wz (&)

REAFFEHNKA (H)

(i) BHEMF

FRARSEBRHNETNERB N
™

HEEmRIEHRE M REKTEFE
SR
BHET—BRER,RIER TR
ERK - —RBERLMAR - MK
— M ER{NHBF30E60H A
/Hﬂ °

TR BB 1 K PR AR %
BHEE—REEIRHE RS AR E
X AR —AR B F I BRE A e
130E60H WEIER ©

IR E MBI AT B KA
R

B E T — BB PR IS O BFR
B mAT R — AR A HBREE B HR R A
30BREH - —RIBRT - BFE
REBFEHETES L EXAEE
BESENROEFNTARET R
A WRTBRME TR N RS
EEHRERE -

TELR BN (BN AR 75 i 1 B R i i AR
%
BHEE—MREETR (1 AR 5 e s e 22
X - MIEN FIE— AN RS
IEEN

35



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

5. REVENUE, OTHER OPERATING INCOME, AND 5.
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 30 June are as follows:

WA - EREZWA - REAK
AR Wz (&)

REEFEHHKRA(E)
(ii) BHEME(1E)
RANAZ+HEPBREHRTEOEE

(KRBTSO KRBT NXHER
RN ¢

2025 2024

ZEC-EHEF —TWEF

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REEX) (RgEZ)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHIT

Amounts expected to be recognised as TRATE AR AU -

revenue:

Within one year —FR 47,270 51,696

After one year BE—F 635 863

47,905 52,559

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be
recognised as revenue after one year relate to maintenance
services, of which the performance obligations are to
be satisfied within three years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue within
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

EHREH TEOEEMNZSHERE
SHRBIS R —F R AMAS
RIS = F PRV IR o T
BRBEHRES TBOBANHS
5B BEHER—ENERA
WA o EilBE S BT RIEE
R T B

For the six months

ended 30 June
BEAB=1HLEAMER
2025 2024
—E-_RE —EPOFE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEEZ)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FET
Other operating income HAb X WA
Value-added tax refund received i 3] 58 (5 51 R A4 312 131
Dividend income from listed investments 1A F(ELBR AR Z
at fair value through profit or loss EEREREWA 92 98
Gain on lease modifications HEEBTz Wz - 57
Others Hih 843 122
1,247 408
Other income and gains Hn g A & Wz
Bank interest income RITHBUTA 6,282 7,236
Gain on lease modifications HEBE 2 W= 3 =
6,285 7,236

36 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited | Interim Report 2025



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBLIADZF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REE ZBFHADSME&NS (5t A)T
HI| & I8

For the six months
ended 30 June
BZEAA=1+HIAEA

2025 2024
—E-HE —EOF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REBERK) (REEEZ)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of goods and services procured from third ~ #£28 = 7T 88 &Y & IR7S 2 A AR
parties 12,254 17,721
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* #)% - E M 2 ITE* 664 313
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 2,387 4,045
Amortisation of other intangible assets** H b & At 6,449 6,673
Gain on lease modifications MEEE] 2 W (3) (57)
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ {EEE@FFH X (BEEE L
and chief executive’s remuneration)™: TTIABE BN ) -
Wages, salaries, allowances and other benefits T & -« Fre » EB &
HEF 71,589 72,199
Equity-settled share-based payment expense A% 1 4% & LARK 15 32+ B =2 340 642
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRENFT B
(defined contribution schemes)*** (EREHRET &) *= 5,377 4,589
Less: Amount capitalised in other intangible A REMEREE
assets =W e (820) 5
76,486 77,430
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade ~ FEUNE 5 8 ZRIE,
receivables, net (B EIRE)FE (106) 394
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

X

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the period of HKS 1,000
(2024: HK$8,000) is included in “Cost of goods and services procured from
third parties” on the face of the condensed consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Amortisation of other intangible assets for the period of HK$6,449,000
(2024: HKS6,673,000) is included in “Amortisation of other intangible
assets” on the face of the condensed consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 30 June
2025, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its
contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2024: Nil).

6. BRBIAER ()

*  HAAYE - BERREZITE1,0008
T (= ZF M4 : 8,000 7T) WA
LEBERT [REZTHREEYRIR
i%z‘/ﬂufwﬂvo

** B H i fE T & EE HE 56,449,000 7T
(7 T —[4F : 6,673,000;5 7T ) A I 5H
FEBRR [ AEMEREEREIA -

#xx NEBIERET - WHELERULHEF
AR BEEHRFIKTF - RZF=h
FNA=1H  NEEIEH LW
A AR B 18 FRERRIKS 5 E
H(ZFEZF : &) -

A Inclusive of research and development cost for application software A B 1% 75 [ FE FR B E n 2 B 5 G G 3
products of HK$9,327,000 (2024: HK$9,689,000). KK £9,327,000 7 (= F = 4F -
9,689,000/ 7T ) °
#  Inclusive of an amount of HKS76,486,000 (2024: HKS77,430,000) #  BERERGFEEERXI AR HER
classified under “Cost of sales and services -Related staff costs”, “Selling RGN —HHEEE T K] - [#5E K
and distribution expenses” and “General and administrative expenses, DT IR [— R ﬁE,’(/‘%‘?/SE}? 25 |
net” on the face of the condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss. 2 B[ 5H76,486,000,F T ( —F — PUF :
77,430,000/87T) °
FINANCE COSTS 7. MKEHR
For the six months
ended 30 June
BEANA=THLAEAR
2025 2024
—ECHF T MF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEX) (REgEZ)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 557 438
Interest on provisions BE AR 25 =
582 438
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8. INCOME TAX

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2024:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the period, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
first HK$2,000,000 (2024: HK$2,000,000) of assessment profits of
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2024: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessment profits are taxed at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%). Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group

operates.

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

Frig

EBFESHHIRBEANBEANREBEE
ZAHETEERTR M T 16.5%( —F 1Y
i 1 16.5%) fEH B - EAREE—REH
REINAFEFISHMRTINELS -
EZ BB A B HY B 52,000,000/ L (- &
—PU94F : 2,000,000/ 70 ) FE R B % ) 15
1#8.25% ( —F — Y4 : 8.25%) HF -
i H &R FE R B E F iR 16.5%( == =M
F 1 16.5%) I H o Efhith & ERTR
%‘JZT%IEMETF$EI%%E%$%E
RBAERZEARERAE

For the six months

ended 30 June
BEANA=THLAER
2025 2024
—E-RE T PUF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZX) (RigEZ)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current - Hong Kong BVER— &%
Charge for the period A H 4,137 3,980
Overprovision in prior periods BEHRZIRE S (6) (6)
Current - Elsewhere BNER — E At
Charge for the period Az H 56 45
Underprovision in prior periods BITHAR IR 10 -
Deferred IEIE (1,228) (1,298)
Total tax charge for the period HIRTIASY 4858 2,969 2,721
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

In 2022, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD")
issued an enquiry letter (“1°t IRD Enquiry”) to a subsidiary (the “1%
Subsidiary”) of the Company regarding the claim for enhanced
deduction of certain research and development expenditures
(“R&D Enhanced Deduction”). After providing the IRD with the
available information and documents for the R&D Enhanced
Deduction as requested in the 15 IRD Enquiry, the 1 Subsidiary
received the assessor’'s comments in October 2023. The 1%t
Subsidiary holds a different view against the assessor’s position
and submitted a reply in January 2024. As at the reporting date,
the 15t Subsidiary has provided replies to 5 rounds of enquiries
from the IRD. The latest enquiry from the IRD was issued on 28
February 2025. The IRD has also issued protective assessment for
the year of assessment 2018/19 to the 1t Subsidiary demanding
tax of approximately HK$0.7 million on 28 February 2025. The
15t Subsidiary has lodged an objection against the protective
assessment for the year of assessment 2018/19 within the
objection period and has a purchased tax reserve certificate (“TRC")
of approximately HK$0.7 million.

In March 2023 and January 2024, the IRD issued protective
assessments for the years of assessment 2016/17 and 2017/18
to another two subsidiaries (the “2" and 3™ Subsidiaries”) of the
Company demanding tax of approximately HK$0.8 million for
the year of assessment 2016/17 and HK$1.0 million for the year
of assessment 2017/18 in aggregate. In March 2025, protective
assessments for the year of assessment 2018/19 were issued to the
2" and 3 Subsidiaries demanding tax of approximately HK$0.6
million and another two subsidiaries (the “4t" and 5t Subsidiaries”)
of the Company for the year of assessment 2018/19 demanding tax
of approximately HK$3.4 million in total.

Frig® (&)

EEBRBR(IRBRIIR_T=_—
MARE—FEKBRE(FE— KB

AR BEHER(E— KB RN
M) AERABEEETARBZ

BESNDOR ([T 3 S REOMNAR ) © 7
REHEBHE —MERAT BRI
S EEIMIE A R BERFIS % - B—
BMBARR -_E=-=F+ A RFIFTH
FAMNOE - F—HHBARETERE
I BEEHRETRAERTN T - UF
—ARROE - -HEREAH F—M
WEBRRE BRI XABELE
fE - BHERNERTABMR-_E_AF=
AZ+N\BE#EH - BBERINR_Z_H
FZAZTNERE—HWBAR®=
T\ NEREFEEHREET
o BRBENO708ETHRA - 5
—EMBARERREHBRAR T
=N/ NEFERREENREMEFTHIE
HEZ WEBELN708B ORI A
([FERiFHD -

RERN_E_=F=RAR-F_NF
—ABERRFBINRRMBAB([F=
MEZRRBAR L)L REETE -
BTN/ —tFRREER=
T—+ /- N\FRREEHFEEY
80B B L RI008B TR - R
—EFZR EBRFE_MEZFHBEA
AIEE T/~ NERBFEEHR
MR - BREMN608 BT
Ko WRAARBBINMRMBAR(E
MEFAEHEBAR] Bk =
=N\ NERREEA L3408 5
TR ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Per discussion with the assessor-in-charge, the IRD is reviewing
the tax affairs of the aforesaid subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”) for
the years of assessment from 2016/17 onwards and the issuance
of the aforementioned protective assessments is merely for the
purpose of keeping the relevant assessments open and not to
become statutorily barred. During the discussion, the assessor-
in-charge informed that the focus of the tax review is the nature
and the deductibility of certain expenses of the 2" and 3™
Subsidiaries and the R&D Enhanced Deduction claimed by the
4™ and 5% Subsidiaries engaged in R&D activities (“Deduction
Claims”). The Subsidiaries have lodged objections against the
protective assessments for the years of assessment 2016/17,
2017/18 and 2018/19 and have purchased TRCs of approximately
HK$0.8 million, HK$1.0 million and HK$3.4 million for the years of
assessment 2016/17,2017/18 and 2018/19, respectively.

In May 2025, the senior management of the Subsidiaries attended
an initial interview with the IRD assessor-in-charge, providing
background information of the business operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries, including the abovementioned
Subsidiaries. During the meeting, the assessors informed that
since the main focus of the Tax Review is the R&D enhanced
Deduction claims, it was mutually agreed that the Group will
provide supplementary information on R&D activities carried out to
facilitate the review of the assessors-in-charge. In August 2025, the
IRD issued enquiry letters to the 4™ and 5™ Subsidiaries and another
subsidiary on their R&D Enhanced Deduction claims.

The directors believe that the aforementioned subsidiaries
have valid grounds to pursue the Deduction Claims (the “Tax
Treatments”). However, there is uncertainty at this stage over
whether the IRD will accept the Tax Treatments under tax law. Up
to the date of approval of the interim condensed consolidated
financial information of the Group, the directors consider that
adequate tax provisions have been made in the interim condensed
consolidated financial information of the Group in relation to
certain expenses incurred by the above-mentioned subsidiaries,
which are in discussion with the IRD whether to qualify for the R&D
Enhanced Deduction.

“ECAFPHRE | NBERGEERRAF

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

Frig® (&)

BIEEFHRETHTw  RIEPEESE
BB AR(IZENBAR]) A
TE R/ L FERREFERAORN
EE - M2 FTAE W EilRE TR
EBARFBZAVFERMMERRRET
BFBR JE M M AR o SR EEE T
XN BREBEEENERRE_RE=
M BARMETEAMMEE RS
M UERENRERENB QAR
SR B) AT AR R A B 5 B S BB AN
BTMBERER]) - ZEHMBLRAAEH
—E-X/—tFE T,/ N
FERZZ—N/—NERHFENR
FEUHFRELES  YEDRR -
—N/—tF Tt/ N\FE=
T\ NERHFEHEEN0EE
JT ~ 1008 BT R3408 BT F ©

RZZE-RAFHA  ZEWBRAANS
BEREAMBRIMEEET T
Se#k RETARRAMRENERR
(BRELMMBAREKLENE S
B AR EEESRTPERT  BRBEE
WEZEHRMEFRTEIMNIBER -
KEFRE  ASBKIREBE@EHZE
FHETER U EEEZZ
HAR - RZZTE-_RFNA  BEBMAE
MEERERBARINALRS —FEHEA
A)EE G B EL A B B SRR AN FR R Y
T EK o

AREMEERAR  LAMBRARELES
BREEIMHAR(HBEEE]) - A
- B AT EERE RS RETA
BEXBBBRE - B2 AKBEE AL
ERHMMBERIER EERRAE
EEARA M BERC I LR
NEMELENE T BRI T M%7
B ELEEMBANLERERIRES
T AMEFBIMNIRNER -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

9. DIVIDENDS

a.  Subsequent to the end of the interim period, the Board has a.
determined that an interim dividend of HK$0.055 (2024: an
interim dividend of HK$0.055) in cash per ordinary share
should be paid to the shareholders of the Company whose &
names appear in the Register of Members on Tuesday, 2

September 2025 (i.e. the record date).

b. Dividends attributable to the previous financial year b.

9. RE

A% 2.0.055/8 7T ) °

approved during the interim period are as follow: ZHRBINT ¢

R HMGEERE  EFERTE
BR-_Z-_RAFNAA-H(EHD)
G S=EDER )3 i v /N
AR RAR RSP RS
FR%0.0558 7L (=T ZPO4F : 1 HA

AP HIRA R L A 2 A B FE

For the six months
ended 30 June
BZAA=1+HIEAEA

2025 2024
—B-RHE —ZEomE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZ) (RgEZ)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Final dividend in respect of the previous  JE# /& & 7 b BFEA RS R 1~
financial year, approved and paid B LA BRFE 2 K
during the interim period of HK$0.055 Hﬁ VE IR AR 0.0558 7T
(2024: final dividend of HK$0.055) T UF  REIRE
per ordinary share 0.0557T) 13,438 13,485
Less: Dividend for shares held under W ARBEAR QT A RBIARGS
the Company’s restricted share H2E) .:‘I'z\J =Xl i
award scheme Frighi% & (85) (119)
13,353 13,366
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 242,787,539 (2024: 243,670,021) outstanding during the period,
as adjusted to exclude the shares held under the restricted share
award scheme of the Company.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period, as used in the basic earnings per
share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed vesting of all dilutive restricted shares of the Company
awarded under the restricted share award scheme of the Company.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based
on:

Earnings

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based
on profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.

“ECAFPHRE | NBERGEERRAF

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

10. BAREBRRRELGSRER

BREARFEBENIRESARLER
R EE ARG RBARNERITER
A% hnAE S 159 81242,787,5390% (—F — 1M
F 1 243,670,021 85T & - WHLHIFR A
NA)ER T R 81 E TR iR (D
TEHFEE o

BREERNSBIREBES AR EEK
BREBIEARIEENTE - SHEMAZ
BARBNEFSB R HEBREREF
PTARZHRERITEBEREE - URR
RFBRBARBRN 2 A AHE
TERABRGIB N BARIERBE - A7
EREE BT 2 R MNEFIH

A s
ST HE o
Al =

FFTEERERREE R T EE N
T
B

BRERNLEERTIEE A6 L@k
B BB B 12 I 4 <
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 10. BRARIEERRRELERER

44

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (%)
(CONTINUED)
Shares gl
Number of shares
R4 EE
For the six months
ended 30 June
BEXA=t+HLEXEA
2025 2024
—B-HE ZEZMEF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBEX) (REEEZ)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 55 &% £ 7 21 F| F A 8§ 1A
outstanding during the period used in BT S mARNE I8
the basic earnings per share calculation 242,787,539 243,670,021
Effect of dilution - weighted average number #5852 — LB NEF B
of ordinary shares:
Restricted shares awarded under BRI 58 IR I AR 17 228
the Company’s restricted share FHEIR L 2 BRFIR G
award scheme 761,024 1,040,374
Number of shares used in the diluted FTESREERNAAARG
earnings per share calculation EgE] 243,548,563 244,710,395
11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. 9% BERR®E
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-E
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (rezEwz)
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net carrying amount, at 1 January R—A—B8  BREFE 6,123 1,031
Additions NE 632 5,947
Depreciation provided during the period/year i 4 4T & B (664) (842)
Exchange realignment DEE 33, 3 B 16 (13)
Net carrying amount, at 30 June/ WAA=1+R/
31 December tTZA=+—B  RE#E 6,107 6,123
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. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

12. REYE

2025 2024

—E-RE —FMEF

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REEZ) (&E=z)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREAE 57,000 64,838

Disposal & - (2,838)

Net loss from fair value adjustments N EFAEZBEFE (2,000) (5,000)

Carrying amount, at 30 June/ RANA=+8/
31 December TZA=t+—HZKHE 55,000 57,000
13. LEASES 13. 18

The Group as a lessee AEBEELSEREA

The Group has lease contracts for various properties used in
its operations. Leases of properties generally have lease terms
between 1 and 7 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group'’s right-of-use assets and

HEAH - MEHRE—
’tg ° 75&% E]

(a) EAEEE

AEERANEETERANSEDED
BOERS—=
C AEEWEIEHEE
BEEELR OB TAREUIINIAL -

B/ FRAEEEREEENRT

the movements during the period/year are as follows: BREFEWNT
Properties
LYE S
2025 2024
—E-HEF ZEUF
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (f&EZ)
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET
As at 1 January n—HA—H 18,306 7,986
Additions NE 550 18,335
Remeasurement on lease modifications HEET cEHTE (46) (1,665)
Depreciation charge e (2,387) (6,196)
Exchange realignment P& X A% 104 (154)
As at 30 June/ RANA=+8/

31 December +=—A=+—H 16,527 18,306

“ECAFPHRE | NBERGEERRAF
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

13. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

13. A& (&)
FEEERFEBAE)
(b) HERME

B/ fREERENERHENRESD

during the period/year are as follows: O
2025 2024
—E-HE —“EF
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (&%)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZREE 19,295 9,156
New leases FHE 550 17,575
Remeasurement on lease modifications ~ FAEZE v &¥t& (49) (2,074)
Accretion of interest recognised during B FRRERF B R
the period/year 557 1,053
Payments (BN (2,918) (6,272)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 3 B 112 (143)
Carrying amount at 30 June/ RANA=+8/
31 December TZA=t+—RZEREA 17,547 19,295
Analysed into: ST -
Current portion mENE D 4,660 4,286
Non-current portion FEmENEB D 12,887 15,009
Repayable: AR THIRER -
Within one year —&FR 4,660 4,286
In the second year E_F 2,529 3,399
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FERF
(BHEEREMT) 7,107 7,074
Beyond five years hFE 3,251 4,536
17,547 19,295
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B FE SRR B EE (48 )
13. LEASES (CONTINUED) 13. HE (&)
AEBEREBEA(HR)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (c) EEAHEEMREZR
are as follows: T

For the six months

ended 30 June

BEARA=T+HLEXEAR
2025 2024
—E-HE —ENF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZ) (REgEZ)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZHE 557 438
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FFEEE 2 ITE 2,387 4,045
Expenses relating to short-term leases BERHAEZHAY 40 23
Total amount recognised in profit or loss B FER ML S 58 2,984 4,506

The Group as a lessor AEBERAHBAA

AEERBEEHELL - SEREY

The Group leases its investment property (note 12) consisting of

one (2024: one) industrial property in Hong Kong under operating %(Mﬁ‘fu) HiE - BREMREEN—IE
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the —ETWNF —IE)ITERYE - HE
tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the FER—REKE P IR TIRE - &

Group during the period was HK$828,000 (2024: HK$859,000). SERERERMNIES A 5828,000

BT (ZZ U4 : 859,000/87T) °

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non-

RBEHRGEER  AEERRERE
PRI Z AR BUB M ST E R AR R

cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows: EEW 2 RBLIRFAE T -
30 June 31 December
2025 2024
—EZARF ZEUF
AA=+H +=ZA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEERK) (f&EZ)
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Within one year —FR 276 1,104
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

14. GOODWILL

14. BE

(Unaudited)

(RBER)
HK$’000
FERT
30 June 2025 —E_HEAXA=1+H
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2025 and RZZE-_RAF—A—BK
30 June 2025 —E_hEXRA=TH
BN K BRTEI{E 135,001
(Audited)
(f&EZ)
HK$'000
FHET
31 December 2024 —E-NE+=A=+—H
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2024 and RZE-_WNF—A—HBK
31 December 2024 —E-NE+=-A=+—H
PR K BRTE{E 135,001
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

15. b BPEE

Deferred
development Customer
costs*  relationships Software Total
i3
B B Fl EFH% g o
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBERK) (RBERK) (RRER) (RBER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
30 June 2025 ZE_RERA=TH
Cost at 1 January 2025, net of RZZ-h¥—-A—A
accumulated amortisation LK - B 25
and impairment B RAE 11,729 760 4,368 16,857
Addition NE 820 - - 820
Amortisation provided during the period 7% 771 85 ¢ 5 (3,885) (380) (2,184) (6,449)
Exchange realignment B 3 R 4 - - 4
At 30 June 2025 RZZEZRhEA=TH 8,668 380 2,184 11,232
At 30 June 2025: R-E-RFAA=FH:
Cost B AR 47,162 14,767 46,028 107,957
Accumulated amortisation and S EERRE
impairment (38,494) (14,387) (43,844) (96,725)
Net carrying amount REFE 8,668 380 2,184 11,232
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

15. HtBEEE (&)

Deferred
development Customer
costs*  relationships Software Total
EEEN XPHBR7R g Fk
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(gE%) (fE&=%) (&%) (fe&%)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TET FET
31 December 2024 —E-mE+=A=1+-H
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RZZ-_mF—A—H
accumulated amortisation ZHCA - HBR RE
and impairment BHERE 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292
Addition NE 107 - - 107
Amortisation provided during the year R F i §5 (9,684) (761) (5,097) (15,542)
At 31 December 2024 AZTZME
—“A=1+—H 11,729 760 4,368 16,857
At 31 December 2024 and R-ZE-_W&E+-HA
1 January 2025 =+—BRRZZ=R
§-A-1:
Cost % 46,338 14,767 46,028 107,133
Accumulated amortisation and ST EERAE
impairment (34,609) (14,007) (41,660) (90,276)
Net carrying amount REFE 11,729 760 4,368 16,857

* During the period, addition of deferred development costs of
HK$820,000 (2024: HK$107,000) was from internal development.

B - NE IR IE R K 48820,0007%8 T

(—Z=

— =

FE -

PI4E : 107,000 7T ) 2K B A 36
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMEE ()

16. B E 5 IR

30 June 31 December

2025 2024

—E-HF —EEF

~A=+H +ZA=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(RBEX) (&%)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade receivables FEUE S RN 33,466 44,522
Impairment A (4,940) (5,008)
28,526 39,514

The Group's trading terms with its customers vary from contract
to contract or depending on the specific arrangements with
individual customers, and may include cash on delivery, advance
payment and on credit. For those customers who trade on credit,
the overall credit period is generally within 60 days, except for
certain projects with longer implementation schedules or for
major or specific customers, where the period may be extended.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
trade receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

REB RS GEREARMER S LG T
BERNEFPZHENLZHME - AJaeedE
BRI - BANMREBRE - BiZEN
BREFAETRBZEFEME @ BRIE
BEH—MTZRe0k « tEMETIEE I
ITHEE ZREERFEEF @ A&
REEH - AEE—EHHRBEHEKE
BrRERKZEZER  SEEBNTHES
BEFUEAS c AEETEHERK
B RN EHF AT AERMRAEDE
HEERESE - BIRE SHERIT T
FE o

REBEREEER - BEE B RFIRE
FERHYEMGBEREDNTAT ¢

30 June 31 December

2025 2024

—E-RE —E_F

AA=+H +ZA=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REE®K) (feE:Z)

HK$'000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within 1 month —@EAAR 16,991 24,232
1to 3 months —E={@A 6,436 9,269
4 to 6 months =7 E A 3,352 3,177
7 to 12 months +Z=+ @A 1,747 2,836
28,526 39,514
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

16. B E 5 iR ()

KRB SER 2 BBEBEREZSHN
T

2025 2024

—E_RHE —EpuF

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REEE®K) (f&EZ)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FAT

At beginning of period/year RERF ) 5,008 4,256
Impairment losses/ VERIELEi= 0

(reversal of impairment), net (ﬁé‘@ﬁ@)%%ﬁ (106) 793

Amount written off as uncollectable Hf 8 AR A W B 5R0E (6) =

Exchange realignment b 5 44 (41)

At end of period/year WERFAR 4,940 5,008

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using REME B AR EEEETRED

a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

T - DG EEMESEE - BERHE
REREHETE - Lt ERREREN
BERLNHEBHAISNEEBRES
A~ BTN MR RGBT E
BRAIEEF

TRESIAKE B R ERETE R
WESEFNEERRER

At 30 June 2025 NR-E-_REXA=1H
Past due
k-]
Credit-
impaired Less than 1to3 Over
receivables Current 1month months 3 months Total
RERE
WA ME AR -ZE=fR Z=@AML by
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREE 100% 0.18% 0.40% 1.45% 23.41% 14.76%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RELE(TET) 3,778 17,434 4,516 3,181 4,557 33,466
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) Tﬁﬁ,ﬁ{*‘%}éﬂ (F&T) 3,778 31 18 46 1,067 4,940
At 31 December 2024 RZE_NMF+=—HA=+—H
Past due
Credit-
impaired Less than Tto3 Over
receivables Current 1 month months 3 months Total
EERME
FElEE 8 AR —Z=fR ZHEANE @
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 100% 0.18% 041% 097% 2496% 11.25%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FEAE(TET) 3,564 27,361 3392 4,861 5,344 44522
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BEEEBR(TEL) 3,564 49 14 47 1334 5,008
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS

P ERRMEE ()

17. BHEE

30 June 31 December
2025 2024
—E-HHF —EpUFE
ANA=+H +=-A=+—8H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REER) (&%)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Contract assets arising from: EREERBUATEIE :
Sale of goods and provision of software, HEE MR HEHER
and GETS services BINETFE 5 R 4,076 2,297
Provision of software implementation REEGE L BERE
and related services, and IT solutions REARE AT RE
implementation and related services A8 R AR 7% 29,834 31,697
Provision of SaaS product offering and IREEH BN RFS = m &
maintenance services HEE AR TS 10,424 3,070
44,334 37,064

Contract assets are mainly initially recognised for revenue
earned from the provision of software implementation and
related services, and IT solutions implementation and related
services as the receipt of consideration is based on the
billing process. Included in contract assets for provision of
software implementation and related services, and IT solutions
implementation and related services are unbilled amounts of
revenue. Upon completion of the billing of the revenue from
contract customers, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The increase in contract assets
during the six months ended 30 June 2025 was mainly due to the
increase in the provision of SaaS product offering and maintenance
services near the end of the period.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is
as follows:

HARENEER I 2ERAHERERN
#E - RHEGE R RERRS - LR
BB ARRT RE ik LB RSP
WANTHERB/ANEE - SRR
B LARARY - LAREABE AR
RERIEBREASNEETIRFA
RBWAZE - TAEHNTFPRAFRH
fRERR  RECHIARANEENTH
SENOBEERUESRNR - BE_F
THERA=ZTHELERBEANAGNEE
IBANTHE B R AT B R AT R R 81 BT
PR TS EE o B M RE AR A L ANFA B o

BREENTRBRWENAEERENT

30 June 31 December

2025 2024

—E-RE —E_F

AA=+H +ZA=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REERK) (feEZ)

HK$'000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within one year —FR 44,334 37,064
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

18. BEAFEHEBSE AR BEE

30 June 31 December

2025 2024

—E-RF —EpUFE

ANA=+H +=-A=+—8H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REER) (&%)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Debt investment, at fair value RAFEFEZEERE 2,100 2,100
Listed equity investments, at fair value WA EFEZ FTRAKE 2,238 1,926
4,338 4,026
Portion classified as current assets DERRBEEHD (2,238) (1,926)
Portion classified as non-current assets DB EIETREEERD 2,100 2,100

The listed equity investments were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The debt investment was mandatorily classified as financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s listed equity investments with
a carrying value of approximately HK$1,926,000 were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

ERARERNBREEEMEDES
BATELBR AR VBEE -

BEIEIRE TR sty B R iR A FEK
Tﬁm)\@EZEﬁ“QF ./\Clu/]i%\///lb
BWFE LRI RE RFE -

RZZEZWNE+ZA=+—0 ' ~&HE
2 ER AR ERE{EX) 21,926,000
TEARSEFAERZ —RIRTTRLE
VEHEAR o
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

19. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS

19. ENESZKRRX - &

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

fib FEAY RKOR

AND PROVISION FESHRIE R B

30 June 31 December

2025 2024

—E_fHE —ZEpuF

~A=+H +ZA=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REER) (&%)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET BT

Trade payables FETE SRR 8,661 12,176
Other payables Hib g I8 31,877 31,034
Accruals st A 19,694 27,264
Provision B 820 795
61,052 71,269
Portion classified as current liabilities NERRBAREHD (60,232) (70,474)
Portion classified as non-current liabilities D8 AIERE B ELLH 820 795

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBEHREEER - BYESRFIRE
FERZREIITOT

30 June 31 December
2025 2024
—E-REF ZEE

ANA=tH +-A=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REER) (R&ER)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx T

Within 1 month — @A R 7,205 11,651
1to 3 months —Z={AA 1,127 354
4 to 6 months L EWN DS 57 5
Over 6 months NEA B 272 166
8,661 12,176

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally FEHT%EE A NE A — AR IR30 K H]

settled on 30-day terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. EHEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHRBEFBNOT
30 June 31 December
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZT_mEF
ARA=tH +ZH=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (&%)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Advances received from customers BIREF 2N
Sale of goods and provision of software, HEEmRRHEHER
and GETS services BREFE5HRE 784 3,555
Provision of software implementation REEGE L EERE
and related services, and IT solutions REMBEBATRERR
implementation and related services 1E R AR 75 12,014 13,507
Provision of SaaS product offering and IR BRI E R &
maintenance services HeE AR TS 35,107 44,040
47,905 61,102
Portion classified as current liabilities NERRBAEHS (47,270) (60,208)
Portion classified as non-current liabilities D38 A&IERE A EELD 635 894
The majority of the contract liabilities mainly include advances AP ENABFZEDERREHEMGE
received to render software implementation and related services, HREERY - REMBMEBRATRE
and IT solutions implementation and related services, and the e N A8 AR TS DA B R 4 $}\1¢Eﬂﬁf§ﬂ‘5‘i§uu
provision of SaaS product offering and maintenance services. The DMEEREETWE R R - B E
decrease in contract liabilities during the six months ended 30 June _EE/\ A=+H1EE H Ba ,\'7@ 1
2025 was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from WA E ERNEIRE RSB ART
customers in relation to the provision of SaaS product offering and EmMEERSZEWEERIRDFT
maintenance services at the end of the period. By o
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21. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

21. IEEHIE

860 EEREAERA E LS

period/year are as follows: N
Deferred tax assets BEEHEEE
Temporary
differences
arising from
Lease contract
liabilities liabilities Total
REEHERE
HEAE ZERERE FEE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBEZ) (REEZX) (REEX)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2025 R-ZE-_RF—H—H 178 595 773
Deferred tax credited/(charged)  HiNEt A/ (F1ER)
to the condensed consolidated AR A EBRERZ
statement of profit or loss IERER I8
during the period 11 (107) (96)
Exchange realignment B 5, 5 B - 21 21
Gross deferred tax assets at RZZE-_RAFA=1H
30 June 2025 BIEHIAEEER 189 509 698
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

21. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

21. R IE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEEE
Fair value
adjustments
Deferred arising from
development  acquisition of Withholding Right-of-
costs subsidiaries taxes use assets Total
BE  WEHEAR
BEEA  2ATEER SELIE kRESE aE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEH) (REEH) (REEHR) (REEH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEn TiEn T TiEgn
At 1 January 2025 RZZ-15-A-A 1,922 1,282 135 172 3,511
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to B/ GtA)ERGE
the condensed consolidated statement  BziFk ZEIERIE
of profit or loss during the period (550) (641) (140) 7 (1,324)
Exchange realignment (A - - 5 _ 5
Gross deferred tax liabilities at i e ol =
30 June 2025 BEREERER 1372 641 - 179 2192
Deferred tax assets BRI B
Temporary
differences
arising from
Lease contract
liabilities liabilities Total
KEAKHAE
HEAE ZERER k]
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(r82E%) (r2E%) (regEwz)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET
At 1 January 2024 RZZEZNFE—H—HA 710 2,005 2,715
Deferred tax charged to the FRIGREGEERRZ
consolidated statement of ERERLIE
profit or loss during the year (532) (1,338) (1,870)
Exchange realignment PE 5% - (72) (72)
Gross deferred tax assets at RZEZPF
31 December 2024 +=-A=+—H
RIERIAEEER 178 595 773
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMEE ()

21. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 21, EEBIE(R)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAE
Fair value
adjustments
Deferred  arising from
Revaluation ~ development  acquisition of ~ Withholding Right-of-
of properties costs  subsidiaries taxes use assets Total
B WEREAR
NEEE RENR ZATERE 'R GRERE 4%
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(Bzr) (B8R (B8R  (88%) (8% (48R0
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TET Tix T
At 1 January 2024 R=Z-ME-F-H 7 3515 2,685 516 699 7,688
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated ~ ERFAGABER Y
statement of profit or loss during the year  ETFE (273) (1,593) (1,403) (381) (527) (4177)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RIBZEETZA=1—H
31 December 2024 EURBEEEE - 1922 1,282 135 172 3,511
22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 22. FREE

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities in
connection with certain guarantees not provided for in the

financial statements were as follows:

Guarantees have been given to certain banks by the Company
for performance bonds/guarantees issued by the banks in
relation to certain contracts undertaken by the Group amounting
to HK$31,700,000 as at 30 June 2025 (31 December 2024:
HK$31,700,000), of which HK$21,643,000 (31 December 2024:

HK$22,168,000) was utilised at the end of the reporting period.
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R ERRELEER - WRRPBHREA
ERBHEE TRREA KA AEN
T

—E-RFARNAZTH  ARRERA
EEEEZAETAHMASHEERITED
CRHRFFERAETRITRES
#(31,700,0008 T (Z T -_WF+ = A
=+—8 : 31,700,000 7T) 2 &R - &
21,643,000 L (2 ZHF+ = A
=+—H : 22,168,000/ 70 ) B R & Hf
%%ﬁa@%°
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B IRAR ML ()

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 23. BEALRS
In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances B SEVBERREMBENFAZRS -
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had THERERIN » REBREBRNEEITT
the following transactions with related parties during the period: FIBEALRS ¢
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: AEEFEEEABZMESWT ¢

For the six months

ended 30 June
BEXA=t+HLXEA
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE_mEF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBEX) (REgEZ)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Short-term employee benefits and REEE R REMEF
other benefits 7,931 8,585
Equity-settled share-based payment AR AE 4 E A IR RS2
expense 220 404
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R REFFHEIHEFR
(defined contribution schemes) (TEEHEARETED 81 81
Total compensation paid to TNEFEEBAEZ
key management personnel W& @E 8,232 9,070
These included continuing connected transactions exempt from WIS EREE T P EIEER GBS FHhE
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.95 of the BIZE14A 95N ELZ ZHTE - BIE L
Listing Rules. The above related party transactions are fully exempt TRANE14AE - LUl EA T SE
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 2HEERP o

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited | Interim Report 2025



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

24. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group's financial assets and liabilities reasonably approximated to
their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, trade payables, other payables and financial
liabilities included in accruals reasonably approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments or the effect of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values for certain financial instruments:

The fair values of the non-current deposits have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of these financial instruments reasonably
approximate to their carrying amounts.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The fair value of a club membership debenture included in debt
investment is based on available market prices.

“ECAFPHRE | NBERGEERRAF

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

24, %ﬁlﬂﬁ$ﬁ&@$ﬁ%%&?ﬁ

RNBERREER  AEEMBEER
BEZRAEEEAFESEMAS -

BEECDHEREMNFRRESEE B
HIHRITER - BRESER  BEk
HAisEWHIR - BB SRR - HbE
NHRELG AR RBRZHBABRZRA
FEAEMEHKREERS  TEAR
ZETAZFBABRESTRNTEL
TEK -

B A ER A E2 ATETEERTS
HZERERZH2TXHTASEA
B - 138 ISR A I SRR T
5175 RIBRE AR AT & TS LA
AT

RPN FEDERBREMFH
BLURRO TR - HEEARRESRE
BRRMEHE - EERR  RFEWHTA
MR ERIEEEREERS -

EHRARE 2 R FETRTISRER
Iﬂj o

SABRSIRE Y B RERS Y ATE
TR IBEIRBH, -
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B IRAR ML ()

24. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 30 June 2025

24, B TEREAFERAFEERE

& (&)
DL EERES

TRETAKEMB TR AFEFE

SR -
RATFENBZRE -
R-FE-HZFANA=1H

Fair value measurement using

AHERBATAEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EBTE  EXUBER EATUBE

HE PN § PN §
($18) (%28) (%38) L
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(REEw)  (REBR)  (RESHR)  (REER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BATELSESA AR BBEE:

Listed equity investments TiRAEE 2,238 - S 2,38
Debt investment ERRE - 2,100 > 2,100
2,238 2,100 - 4,338
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

24. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 24. BT RERFERQIFESRE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ATFESEHREE(E)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BAVEFEZEE | ()
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZEZFE+=HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using
NEERAUTRIENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERME  EANHE EALTEE

HE EPN (- EPN (7
(%18) (£2E) (£3E) x|
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(&2%) (&2%) (&%%) (&28%)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT ThT AT ThT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BATELSESA AR HBEE:

Listed equity investments TiRARE 1,926 - S 1926
Debt investment ERRE - 2,100 - 2,100
1,926 2,100 - 4,026

Liabilities measured at fair value: BAFENEZERS
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair AEER-ZZ_RAFRAA=TRAR=ZE
value as at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2024. “FE+ A=+ BT ESAERATF

BfEZHKAE -

During the period ended 30 June 2025, there were no transfers BE-Z-RFEA=THILHHA &
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no MBEERMBAGBMNE @ B1EHESE2
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial BeRMEATEFASEY  TEATF
liabilities (Year ended 31 December 2024: Nil). B AREEFEIE(HE_2 -1

FTA=+—HILFE : &)
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include lease liabilities,
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, trade and other payables, financial liabilities included
in accruals, and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which mainly arise directly from its operations or investments.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, equity price risk
and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s cash at banks and bank deposits

with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate bank balances and bank deposits).

25. RAKREEBERBER

ASEZEIRMBTADEREAR
ERMRTFFIARRE REZRREE
E-WEWBTAZTIERRIAARE
B EXBRE  AKEEHMBEEVE
BERAE WMEKEZERER R
Hib EUGRIR - BT E Bk R E A fE
5008 - 5F AREETIE 2 BT B 8 iR
NPELBBARIHBEE - WEM
BEERABTEAEBLEAREH
BEL -

ZSEIQM&IE%EZ\IEH TYSPIES
J—k CHNERRE - EERR - RAERE

m%ﬁiﬂh°§$A§@I
H TXFME)‘L HE R R IE I E R 2 B
;ﬁo

MZ=ER

AEERAET S EEBMAST 2 AR
FEHEAEBF RN RITIREBIZEF R
R ZRE RIBITERER -

TREIEMBEEMEH B TE 215
AT - REE BB ADE A GF 8 8
%‘J%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁi‘%@)%“ﬂ‘
MEREEA L IRE S 2 HFIRE

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit
basis points before tax

X BRBE A1 % F
@, (8d) i Ord)

(Unaudited)
(REEE%)
HK$'000
FHIT
As at 30 June 2025 R-ZB-HEXA=TH
Hong Kong dollar BT (50) (438)
United States dollar E7T (50) (1,126)
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(ARE]D (50) (67)
Hong Kong dollar BIT 50 438
United States dollar eV 50 1,126
RMB AR 50 67
As at 30 June 2024 RZE-NFENA=+H
Hong Kong dollar BIT (50) (328)
United States dollar ETT (50) (1,030)
RMB AR (50) (170)
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 328
United States dollar e 50 1,030
RMB AR 50 170
There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained %1% AR AN - AR E B RS T (]

profits.

2/ 488
%=

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited | Interim Report 2025



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from revenue generated and/or costs and expenses
incurred by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group'’s profit before tax (arising from RMB denominated financial
instruments).

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

25. B EEEE R ERBEK(#)

SN LR

AEEEHRZFERRER - AR E
REREEBLERZEMEETEIN
SVEH IR WA R, REEZ KA R
AT

TRBIEFA LB 15T 2
BT - REBPRREHNEERAA
RUEEMB B TAMES) 2 BBA
EFIE A REE RS B E) 2 S
12 o

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
exchange in profit
rate before tax
fE= RRBE AR R
EFH (TR &/ CRD)
(Unaudited)
(CREgEZ)
% HK$’000
FHET
As at 30 June 2025 R=ZZE-HEASA=+H
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB WBTHARKE 5 (998)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB i 7T 5, A R #EFHE (5) 998
As at 30 June 2024 R-ZB_MEA=1H
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB WA TRAREERE 5 (592)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB i3 7T 3, A R ¥ FHE (5) 592

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained
profits.

Credit risk

The Group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that most
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to certain
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored by the Group’s management on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and period/year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and period/year-end
staging classification as at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2024.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.
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FRREEFISN - AR EE DS R A
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FERR

AEBTZERIREERT 2 FE=
&ﬁAMMLﬁX% &VK%IZﬁ

P KRB MR EEGRTETRSZ
%ﬁmLﬂ%¥;ﬁ%V&ﬁ LEAN -
R EBR AR AN EBEEERFEE

BEEBR R, R AR R

T%Emgﬁ$%lfgﬁﬁmfAA
ZEhEeEERE  EEL@BER
E%ﬁ(%%TE$ﬁ§@%&$ﬁ%
NHBERATREEMER) KR ZE
“THEXNA=Z+THE-ZE-_M&E+_HA
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25. iR E R EEEERBE (E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and period/year-end staging (continued)

RS R R, R AT B R ()

As at 30 June 2025 R-FE-AFENA=+H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T={8A
RHEEER rHRHEERSR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-K& ERR LR L BlerE ax
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REER) (REER) (REER) (REEEH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Trade receivables* EARE AR - - - 33,466 33,466
Contract assets alEE - - - 44,334 44,334
Deposits and other receivables e REMEWE
- Normal** ~ " 4,396 - - - 4,39
Pledged bank deposits BERRITER
- Not yet past due —HARE 178 - - - 178
Cash and cash equivalents BeRSARGEE
- Not yet past due -WREH 326,925 - - s 326,925
331,499 - - 77,800 409,299
As at 31 December 2024 RZFE-—mFEF+=—HA=+—H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
t-@A
BHEEER PHRREEES
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-HR E-RE E BlLhiE et
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(a%%) (&%) (&%) (&%) (#ER)
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TAR TAR TARL TAR
Trade receivables* ERESET - - - 44,52 4452
Contract assets AlEE - - - 37,064 37,064
Deposits and other receivables e REMENE
- Normal** —Egw 4983 - - - 4,983
Pledged bank deposits BERRIER
- Not yet past due - HARE 202,491 - - - 202,491
Cash and cash equivalents ReRERREEE
- Not yet past due — WK 128,907 = = = 128,907
336,381 - - 81,586 417,967
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and period/year-end staging (continued)

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the deposits and other receivables is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments included in
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - listed equity
investments (note 18) as at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2024.
The Group's listed equity investments are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and are valued at quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10%
change in the fair values of the Group’s listed equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax,
based on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

25. B EEEE R ERBEK(#)

BERBR R, R AT R R ()

* BAKEREMABEIDATEREREK
BIERR - ERBEEENERHRER
MK MTE6 ©

= iR K H A EUCGRIR R L R A
HETUBEEB NS ERRERRR
RIGIEH0 - AR ER S R A eI IR
MEEEERIER] - BRI - BIREB
BENEEEERIRE] -

R A (B 4% L B

A ER R R AR REEEMER
BHEEBEZBCERBRAZLEZ ATFE
PR 2 BB - ANEE 2 BRAERRRIR
RE-Z-_AFA~AAZ+BER=Z=/NH
F+ZA=+—BHERQATFEKLE
mARCZMEEE - EMRARE (M
FH18) 2B AIRE - AEEZ £
BRARERBEEBARBAERAF L
W RREHELEEARTSRET
g °

TREIVNEFMBHMEH BT TE 15
MTRARFHEMB B ER - LERE
BAEE XNEBE LMRAKRERRE
HE&EEH 2 A ESEZEN10%F - 1
BIE B 2 BURIEE -

Carrying Increase/

amount of (decrease) in

equity profit

investments before tax

BRAERE RRBE AR R

ZIREE  EmCRD)

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REEZ) (REER)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHExT
As at 30 June 2025 R-ZB-HFAXA=1+H
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: EEAELMZBARE :
- financial assets at fair value through — R AVELER AR

profit or loss LB EE 2,238 224
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25. iR E R EEEERBE (E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Equity price risk (continued) IR A E R R ()
Carrying Increase/
amount of (decrease) in
equity profit
investments before tax
KRR E B 758 A1 g )
ZEREME  Emn O
(Audited) (Audited)
(Fe&%) (Fegwz)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZEZWHEF
+=-A=+—-H
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: EEB LM RAEIRE -
- financial assets at fair value through —BAFELEEAR
profit or loss 2B E 1,926 193
There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained MR AR BB HE RN - AN 2 B RE 2 BT {a]
profits. TR o
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to
meet its contractual payments for financial liabilities in the short
and long term. In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances, and
bank deposits deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior

management on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

BA RS ERARPRE (4F)

25. B EEEE R ERBEK(#)

REBETRER

AEEZBERBREFEANES AR
NEEHEREHZHHABBEOMNK -
BERPDETEARE  AEEERK
HBEEEGARARMEHRASEZEM
F2RE RIRITHESKTE RRITER
WRERRERERDERZIFE - &
RERBRBEVNERAEEZRSR

=
B °

RMEBHEEER XEBREELOR
FRNFAAE 2 B aE BB RN
T

As at 30 June 2025 R-ZB-HFAA=1+H
Lessthan 3 to less than 1to5
On demand 3months 12 months years Total
=F

REXEE JSRZEA  T-EAR ik am

(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REE%) (REER) (REBR)  (REEXR)  (REER)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ThET ThET THERT FHR FHR

Trade payables RS RN 8,083 249 329 = 8,661

Other payables Hih e 308 - 31,877 - - 31,877

Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,004 457 14,950 20,525

Financial liabilities included in accruals STABSRIE BB AR - 7,022 - = 7,022
Guarantees given to banks for performance AR EEAE 7 ETAL)
bonds/guarantees issued in relation to BHBORE /ERM

certain contracts undertaken by the Group ~ [ER{THE{E 2 212 21,643 - S S 21,643

29,726 40,152 4,900 14,950 89,728
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B IRAR ML ()

25.

26.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

25. B EEEE B R RBUER(#)

FEBESERE(E)
R-E-—_NF+=-A=+—H

Lessthan 3 toless than Tto5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
p— E
REXER JIR=ZEA TZEAR it ek
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(&&%) (5&7) (5&%) (&&%) (t&&%)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TAT TAT TAT
Trade payables EREZER 11,882 128 166 = 12,176
Other payables AN e 31,034 - - 31,034
Lease liabilities HERR 1,003 4316 17,486 22,805
Financial liabilities included in accruals A FE B AR 8,789 = = 8,789
Guarantees given to banks for performance  BAEEAE 2 ETAY)
bonds/guarantees issued in relation to BRBORE/ %1%%
certain contracts undertaken by the Group MBTRECER 22,168 - - - 22,168
34,050 40954 4482 17,486 96,972
Capital management BEREHE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the period ended 30 June
2025 and year ended 31 December 2024.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’
equity.

APPROVAL OF THE INTERIM FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The interim financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 15 August 2025.

AEBEAEEZTEBRNEARER
SERELEZRNABFRIZERL
T UXBHEEBRBEREREAE
=

REBRBLEERA BT REEEE
BB THEMREBEARLRE
RAEH A% o AN E AT AR B 2 H AR
RIREZRE - MREEEEARNNIET
%ﬁﬁﬁ'bﬁ%ﬁiiﬂﬁﬁzﬁ o HE
—HRFENAZ= +E¢Hﬁﬁﬁ&@i—7
:@E‘T‘fﬁ_‘?’ HIEFER - A&
HoERERERZE  BORSIRF I mig

AEBEZERNBAARRES DA
B o

26. #it/EPHFHEREK

EFeRN T _RAFN\ATHEAH#ER
BT B R BB SRR o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 30 June 2025, the interests of the directors and chief executive
in the share capital and underlying shares of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Other Information

Hi&E*

EERTHARRRG RAEBER®D
ZRBERARR

R-ZZB-HFAA=1TH BEBFERTHA
BRARB REMEEE(EERLES M
B E 5 KB GG ]) EXVER) Z B
MR T HEEARRARBEESLRE
ROIFE3I52EREFE 2 B LM+ FTae ke
RIELEMETAESETESFIHNREST
AISITHEARR MBI T2 e T

FAREBERZHAE

Number of shares held,

capacity and nature of interest

FsROBE - HSoRERNE

Percentage

of the

Directly Through Company’s

beneficially controlled issued

Note owned corporation Total share capital

(=R

Name of director and BE EiB SEITRAE

chief executive EERITHRARMEE i BXEE ZTEHALF By Baote

Directors =

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing REBLAETIZA () 7,740,000 114,614,000 122,354,000 50.08

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam RIEFRISTE 1,000,000 = 1,000,000 0.41

Mr. Leung King San Sunny =354 1,030,000 - 1,030,000 0.42

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung REIREA 300,000 = 300,000 0.12
Chief executive THAER

Mr. Chung Kin Yip EERELA 240,000 = 240,000 0.10

10,310,000 114,614,000 124,924,000 51.13
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Other Information (continued)

Ht&ER (&)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions in shares of an associated corporation:

% 17 % 16 B8 A% 142

R—BHEBEEERG ZFR -

Number of shares Percentage
RIEE of the
associated
Name of Relationship Directly Through  corporation’s
associated with the Class of beneficially controlled issued
Name of director corporation Company shares owned corporation  share capital
CEAEL
EB ERTRE
Expg RBEE LR AL E 2 BE RoER EEEREF  XEHAF BAL
Ir. Ng Cheung Shing Computer And Company's subsidiary ~ Non-voting deferred 1,750,000 3,250,000 N/A
REBLETIZEM Technologies AREZHBAR ERFRERIC (Note Fif#E(b)) TEH
International
Limited
RLES)
BRAT
Notes: MfE -

(@) The 114,614,000 shares were held by Chao Lien Technologies Limited (a)
(“Chao Lien”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of C.S. (BVI) Limited. Ir. Ng Cheung
Shing was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more
of the voting power at general meetings of C.S. (BVI) Limited, which in turn
was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the
voting power at general meetings of Chao Lien. Accordingly, Ir. Ng Cheung
Shing was deemed, under the SFO, to be interested in all shares held by

Chao Lien.

(b)  The 3,250,000 non-voting deferred shares were held by Chao Lien. (b)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, none of the directors
and chief executive had registered an interest or short position in the

shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated 1A

corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by &€
Directors of Listed Issuers.

B EXHEEEN
B $MESFERITBBHENARGHEEM
B A B 2 B SRR G R
S NMHEEDIE35216 B Fosk - iRE L
MBITAEFETELRRHINZE
KRB MR 2 S FOK R ©

C.S. (BVI) Limitedz 2 &M B AR BHERSE
AR (1B )iEE114,614,0000 0815 - =
B TR ARERCS. (BVI) Limited Z f%
RARE LITFREHNTE=0 22— L2
M - MC.S. (BVI) Limited Bl B HER B HE AL
BAEG EITFESRIESTE=S 2 — kA Ei&
=R FHIt - RIBEFMBEEN  REE
Sk TR2E R BRBE T A 2B KK
PR o

£23,250,000 iR B IR B EE R D B B
ﬁo

R-ZEBE-_RE~A=
BB E

ESFRI BT
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections “Restricted share award scheme”
below, at no time during the period were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any director or their respective spouse or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “Award
Scheme”) on 22 May 2008 and renewed the Award Scheme on 31 May
2017 (the “Renewed Date”). Pursuant to the Award Scheme, shares of
the Company (the “Awarded Shares”) are granted to eligible employee
(including directors) of the Group until the 10" anniversary from the
Renewed Date. The Company shall also pay cash to the appointed
trustee company for its acquisition and holding upon trust of the
Awarded Shares for the benefit of these employees and directors.
The Awarded Shares will then be transferred to these employees and
directors upon vesting. The aggregate number of shares to be awarded
under the Award Scheme throughout its duration shall not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time or such
other percentage as notified to them by the Board (provided that the
overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under any
other incentive or share option schemes and under the Award Scheme
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time).

The Award Scheme shall be effective from the Renewed Date and shall
continue in full force and effect for a term of 10 years unless sooner
terminated as determined by the Board of Directors. The Award Scheme
is to expire on 31 May 2027.

Details of the Award Scheme and the shares awarded thereunder are set
out in the Annual Report 2024.

“ECAFPHRE | NBERGEERRAF

Other Information (continued)

Hitb & ()

EERERODSES ZEF

BTX RGN KBS —HREE
O - RAERAERRE - S8R T EMNE
ERRES B ZEBIRKEFLAEBA
ARABRMDKEZF M 2 EF - BRI
MEEMNEREREFTE AR HELM
B AR ERT LA 8 Al EE R
ATATEMEABE 2R MR -

AR RDEREE

ARARZEENFRA -+ _BEMNER
HIRS () S EhET &8 ([ SEEET 8 ) RN T —+
FRHAZ+—RA(EEBH]) 5EZER
FTE - IRE R B - AR R ([ 2R
HBEEEARRE AT IR TAEEAS
BEREEB(BREES) - ARRANBREES
HAARRBARAZSERERESTZHEMN
ERFABFEEERMEMESNES - &
BROEEEREBHEBEEREEWESR
MESE - ZEBFEBHEAE T REZRD
BE - TEZRARBTEEETRA10%
REEGNEREZEHEEME DL (AR
AR IR AT (o] £ At 22 D ok B AR A T &8 K 22 Bh AT
EIEBRBERITEN A BREEITEER
FEOIZBMHEE ZEERBNMEBEAA
AR E TN 230%) °

HETEEEERHREY  BRIEEZIGR
TERATRIE - BRI ZEFT 2 E N 1 F 5
NEEAM - RETEEN-_ZE=+FHA
=t+t—HE® -

ERAEEEI RBEERH 2R MFEEHR =
TUFEFR o
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Other Information (continued)

Hitp & ()

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the number and movements of the
Awarded Shares under the Award Scheme during the period ended 30

BARFIR G EBE 8 (&)

TREJIBE_Z_RFNA=1THILHE
Nz ZETEA T RO 2B REE

June 2025. B o
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares
AERRARGOHE
Closing price
of the shares
immediately
hefore the
Fair value date on
At1 Awarded Vested of awards which the
Name of category January  during the during At30 atthedate  awardswere
of participant 2025 period  theperiod  June 2025 Award date Vesting period of Award Shares of grant granted
i B
SRENE - 13 Z8o5f RY%BE BTEBARA
FREER -B-B HACKE HREHBR  <AZtH RiEEHALD RERGERS  WATE -RREKTE
HKS HKS
AT B
Directors
£
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing 50,000 - (50,000) - 6 June 2022 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 224 260
RRBEETED Z5IC ZEIZERACTRE
~ARE ZZCRERACTR
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing 100,000 - - 100,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 19 212
RREEETED kSl ZZINEMACTRE
AAZtNA ZZCtEMA=TR
Mr.Ng Kwok Keung 50,000 - (50,000) - 6 June 2022 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 224 260
REREE Z5IC ZZIEERACTRE
~ARE ZZCRERACTR
Mr. Ng Kwok Keung 100,000 - - 100,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 1.92 212
RERLE kSl ZZINEMACTRE
hBZtNA ZZtEMA=TR
Chief executive
finas
Mr. Chung Kin Yip 160,000 - - 160,000 28 September 2023 30 September 2024 to 19 212
BRELL “E-CE 30 September 2026
hABZtNA ZZIMEAACTRE
ZEIAFNAZTR
Sub-total
Nt 460,000 - (100000 360000
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Number of Unvested Awarded Shares

Other Information (continued)

Hitb & ()

BRFIR D RB & (&)

AERRARGOHE
Closing price
of the shares
immediately
before the
Fair value date on
At1 Awarded Vested of awards which the
Name of category January  during the during At30 atthedate  awardswere
of participant 2025 period  theperiod  June 2025 Award date Vesting period of Award Shares of grant granted
i i
BaERE ECRf a3 RTEEA RIRBAKA
B -B-B HACKE HACHBRE  <AZtH RiLEDALD RERGNEES  WATE -XRAUHE
HKS HKS
B B
Two top-paid individuals (excluding Directors and the Chief Executive)
MUSHHHNEA (EZRTHEHRD)
Inaggregate 30,000 S (30,000) S 6 June 2022 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 224 260
aif It Sl “RoCERRSTRE
~ARE ZZCRERACTR
Inaggregate 60,000 - - 60,000 28 September 2023 30 September 2024 to 30 September 2026 192 212
ait bbbt ZZIMEAACTRE
ABZt/A ZZIREMACTR
Inaggregate 60,000 - - 60,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
ait bbbt ZZINEMACTRE
ABZt/A ZZCtEMA=TR
Sub-total
et 150,000 = (30,000) 120,000
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Other Information (continued)

HtE R (

=

4Z)

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Number of Unvested Awarded Shares

BREIR G EBE 8 (&)

AERRARGOHE
Closing price
of the shares
immediately
hefore the
Fair value date on
At1 Awarded Vested of awards which the
Name of category January  during the during At30 atthedate  awardswere
of participant 2025 period  theperiod  June 2025 Award date Vesting period of Award Shares of grant granted
i B
SaEne ECRf Z2CEf RY%BE RIEBEMA
FrBER -f-B  HRCHR HAERE  AASTA RLEDAD RERGNERS  WATE -XROUHE
HKS HKS
B BT
Other employees
HftES
Inaggregate 260,000 S (260,000) S 6 June 2022 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 224 260
ait It Sl ZECCERAZTRE
~ARA ZECRERAZTA
Inaggregate 100,000 - - 100,000 28 September 2023 30 September 2024 to 192 212
At b S 30 September 2026
hA=T/A “Z-MENR=TRE
ZRIRENRETH
Inaggregate 50,000 S S 50,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
aif 5= ZRINEMA=TRE
hA=T/A ZECtEMAZTA
Sub-total
et 410,000 - (260000) 150,000
Total
ot 1,020,000 - (390,000 630,000
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
(NOT BEING A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OF THE COMPANY) INTERESTS IN SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2025, the following interests of more than 5% of the issued
share capital and share options of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

Other Information (continued)

Hitb & ()

TERRRAMAL(AFAQRE
%iﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁ)%ﬂﬁﬁ&*ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁz
=

RZE-RHFNA=+H ' ' W FAKXQFA
B H AR 75 ﬁ&ﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁwﬁﬁm
GEZERELMARGEERRREBITRA X

section 336 of the SFO:

FERR S %A 2 e mn

Long positions: jia S~
Percentage
of the
Number of Company's Number
ordinary issued share of share
Name of shareholder of the Company Notes  Capacity and nature of interest shares held capital options held
BEAR
ARARREE/ BB i BORERME FEEBREE CERORAEIR  HREREYE
Chao Lien Technologies Limited (@) Directly beneficially owned 114,614,000 4691 -
BRMRARAT ERERHRA
C.S. (BVI) Limited (@) Through a controlled corporation 114,614,000 4691 -
BRXEHAR
Puttney Investments Limited ("PIL") (b) Directly beneficially owned 29,148,938 11.93 -
ERERHA
Hutchison International Limited ("HIL") (b) Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.93 -
EEREHAT
Hutchison Whampoa Limited (“HWL") (b) Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.93 -
NTERARAR(E]) BBREHRT
Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited ("CKH") (b) Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.93 -
RIGEERARAR(&E]) i heta YN
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited ("CKHH") (b) Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.93 -
RINCEZARARA(RA]) BBREHRT
Hui Yau Man Directly beneficially owned 26,782,000 10.96 -
A ERERHRA
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Other Information (continued)

Hitp & ()

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
(NOT BEING A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OF THE COMPANY) INTERESTS IN SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions: (continued)
Notes:

(@)  The interest was also disclosed as an interest of Ir. Ng Cheung Shing in the
section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” of this report.

(b)  PILis a wholly-owned subsidiary of HIL, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HWL. CKH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CKHH and
subsidiaries of CKH are entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more
than one-third of the voting power at the general meetings of HWL. By
virtue of the SFO, CKHH, CKH, HWL and HIL were deemed to be interested in
the 29,148,938 shares of the Company held by PIL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, no person, other than the
directors of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was
required to be recorded under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the
principles of integrity, transparency and accountability. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is essential to the success of
the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board opined that the Company has complied with the code
provision set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG code”)
as stipulated in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) during the reporting period.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that its corporate governance practices are similar to those
provided in the CG Code.

TERRRAEMALT(AFAQRE
ERTHRAR)RRORAERERND 2
e ()
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities of the
Company by the directors. Based on a specific enquiry of the Company’s
directors, the directors have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the six months ended 30 June 2025.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Group has established an effective risk governance and
management framework in line with the requirements set out by the
Listing Rules and other regulations. This framework was built around a
structure that enables the Board and the management to discharge their
risk management-related responsibilities with appropriate delegation
as well as checks and balances. These responsibilities included defining
risk appetite in accordance with the Group’s business strategies and
objectives, formulating risk policies that govern the execution of those
strategies, and establishing procedures and limits for the approval,
control, monitoring and remedy of risks.

The members of the Risk Management Committee positioned at the
highest level of the Group’s risk governance structure under the Board.
Members included three executive directors and one independent
non-executive director. The Risk Management Committee had direct
involvements in formulating the Group's risk appetite, and determined
the levels of risk that the Group is willing to undertake with reference to
its financial capacity, strategic direction, prevailing market conditions
and regulatory requirements.

The Risk Management Committee will continuously ensure the Group’s
risk appetite is realistically reflected in the policies and procedures
that the management adopted in executing its business functions. The
Risk Management Committee will regularly review the Group’s risk
management framework and ensure that all important risk-related tasks
are performed according to established policies and with appropriate
resources.

The Board has reviewed and considers the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.
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Other Information (continued)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process, risk management and internal controls. As of 30 June
2025, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors of the Company. The interim condensed consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2025 have not been
audited, but the Audit Committee has discussed with the management
of the Company and the external auditors, Ernst & Young, on the
appropriateness and consistency of the accounting policies that have
been adopted by the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
interim results and the interim report of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2025.
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